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The two most powerful warriors
are patience and time.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
DR HENRY TAY YUN CHWAN

MR MICHAEL TAY WEE JIN

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
Dr Henry Tay was appointed Executive Chairman of The
Hour Glass Limited in October 1987, having served as an
Executive Director since 11 August 1979.

GROUP MANAGING DIRECTOR
Mr Michael Tay was appointed as Group Managing
Director on 1 April 2020. He first joined the Company in
January 1999 as its Business Re-Engineering Manager.

Dr Tay graduated with a MBBS (Honours) from Monash
University, Melbourne and prior to founding The Hour
Glass in 1979, was both a medical practitioner as well as
partner in Lee Chay & Co., one of Singapore’s earliest
watch retail companies.

Mr Tay has developed extensive watch industry
experience having headed multiple facets of The Hour
Glass’ business from specialty watch manufacturing
to wholesale channel distribution and greenfield retail
development. He is a member of the cultural committee
of the Fondation de la Haute Horlogerie, a member of
the honorary committee of the Gerald Genta heritage
association, a member of the jury for the Grand Prix d’
Horlogerie de Geneve and a member of the jury for the
FP Journe young talent competition.

From 1986 to 2001, Dr Tay was Executive Chairman of
a group of companies whose businesses were in the
distribution and retail of Burberry in the Asia Pacific
region. Dr Tay was an Independent Director and Chairman
of the Audit Committee of UOB-Kay Hian Holdings
Limited. He also holds directorships in several private
companies focused on investments and real estate
development.
Dr Tay served as a Committee Member of the Community
Chest from 1992 and was appointed Vice-Chairman from
1994 to 2004. An active fundraiser for various charitable
organisations, Dr Tay has received many public service
awards including the Friends of MCDS (Ministry of
Community Development and Sports) Award in 2002 and
the President’s Social Service Award in August 2005. He
also received the Community Chest Special Recognition
Award presented by the President of the Republic of
Singapore in September 2015.
Dr Tay was the Founder President of the Hong Kong Singapore Business Association from 1994 to 2000. He
also served as a board member of the Singapore Tourism
Board.

Mr Tay served on the Boards of the National Heritage
Board and the Singapore Tyler Print Institute, was a
member of the governing council for the NTU Centre for
Contemporary Art and an advisory board member of Art
Basel Cities; institutions engaged in the advancement
of the heritage and visual arts sector. He was also the
Chairman of international humanitarian non-governmental
organisation – Mercy Relief.
Mr Tay graduated from Oxford Brookes University, United
Kingdom with a First Class (Honours) in Business and
International Management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
DR KENNY CHAN SWEE KHENG

MR LOCK WAI HAN

NON-INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Dr Kenny Chan became a member of the Board of The
Hour Glass Limited on 1 April 2004. He joined as the
Group Chief Operating Officer in 2002 and was appointed
as Managing Director of the Company on 1 April 2004.
In June 2009, he was re-designated to Group Managing
Director of The Hour Glass Limited. On 31 March 2020,
Dr Chan retired as Group Managing Director. He serves
as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee with effect from 1 April
2020.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr Lock joined the Board of The Hour Glass Limited
on 1 October 2020 as an Independent Non-Executive
Director and serves as a member of the Company’s
Audit Committee and the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee. He was appointed Lead Independent Director
on 1 January 2022.

A graduate of Monash University with a MBBS (Honours),
Dr Chan has over 30 years of experience in the luxury
goods industry. Prior to his joining The Hour Glass, he was
the Managing Director of Burberry Singapore and Burberry
Australia, companies that formed part of a group that was
the exclusive distributor and agent of Burberry.
Dr Chan served as a Council Member of the Singapore
Retailers Association until his retirement on 8 July 2020.

Mr Lock is the Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer of OKH Global Ltd. He is also a Non-Executive
Director of ARA Trust Management (Suntec) Ltd and Chip
Eng Seng Corporation Ltd. Mr Lock was the Executive
Director and Group CEO of Rowsley Ltd and before that,
was based in Beijing as the China CEO of CapitaMalls
Asia (“CMA”), where he had oversight of a retail mall
portfolio that included Raffles City projects and CMA
mixed developments.
Mr Lock had served in the Singapore public sector
for more than 20 years during which he held various
leadership roles including Commissioner of the
Immigration & Checkpoints Authority, Director of the
Criminal Investigations Department and Deputy Secretary
of the Ministry of Information, Communications & the Arts,
as well as directorships on various statutory boards.
Mr Lock graduated from the University of Cambridge with
Bachelor and Master of Arts (Engineering) degrees. He
also holds a Master of Science (Management) degree from
Leland Stanford Junior University.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
MR KUAH BOON WEE

MR JEFFRY LEE YU CHERN

NON-INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr Kuah was appointed to the Board of The Hour Glass
Limited on 1 April 2011 as an Independent Non-Executive
Director. On 1 January 2022, he was re-designated to
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. He serves as
a member of the Company’s Audit Committee and the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr Lee was appointed to the Board of The Hour
Glass Limited on 1 October 2017 as an Independent
Non-Executive Director. He is the Chairman of the
Company’s Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Mr Kuah is the Group Chief Executive Officer of MTQ
Corporation Limited. He is also an Independent
Non-Executive Director of UOB-Kay Hian Holdings Limited
and Chairman of the Audit Committee and member of
its Remuneration Committee. He had served as CEO for
South East Asia and Singapore Terminals as well as Chief
Financial Officer of PSA International Pte Ltd.
Mr Kuah is a qualified chartered accountant from the ICAEW
and graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering degree
from the Imperial College of Science and Technology.

MR LIEW CHOON WEI
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr Liew was appointed to the Board of The Hour
Glass Limited on 1 April 2017 as an Independent
Non-Executive Director. He is the Chairman of the
Company’s Audit Committee.
Mr Liew is an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Halcyon Agri Corporation Limited and an Independent
Non-Executive Director of FJ Benjamin Holdings Ltd.
He is an Independent Non-Executive Director of Frasers
Hospitality Asset Management Pte. Ltd. and Frasers
Hospitality Trust Management Pte. Ltd., respectively.
The former and latter are the manager of the real estate
investment trust (REIT) and the trustee-manager of the
business trust (BT), of which the REIT and BT comprise
the stapled group, Frasers Hospitality Trust.
Mr Liew was with an international public accounting
firm for more than 30 years before retiring in 2013 as an
Audit Partner. He is a retired Fellow of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, UK and a Chartered
Accountant of Singapore.

Mr Lee is the Senior Vice-President of HPL Properties
Pte Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hotel Properties
Limited. Prior to joining HPL Properties Pte Ltd, he was
an economic research analyst at Jacob Ballas & Co
Stockbrokers.
Mr Lee graduated from Loughborough University with a
Bachelor of Science degree.
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KEY EXECUTIVES
SINGAPORE
THE HOUR GLASS LIMITED
MR HO TUN MIN NORMAN
GROUP GENERAL MANAGER

Mr Ho joined the Company in January 2019 and is
responsible for business planning, operations management
and development of the Group's policies and procedures.
Mr Ho holds a Bachelor of Accountancy (Honours) from
Nanyang Technological University, a Master of Business
Administration from the University of Melbourne and
is a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants.

HONG KONG
THE HOUR GLASS (HK) LIMITED
MR CHUNG WAI YANG
MANAGING DIRECTOR
Mr Chung joined The Hour Glass (HK) Limited in August
1994 and is responsible for the development and
management of The Hour Glass’ Hong Kong business unit.
Mr Chung holds a Master of Business Administration from
the Ageno School of Business at Golden Gate University,
San Francisco, USA.

SINGAPORE
THE HOUR GLASS LIMITED
MR HO MANG CHAN

JAPAN
THE HOUR GLASS JAPAN LTD
MR ATSUSHI MOMOI

Mr Ho joined the Company in August 2009 and is
responsible for the Group’s financial and accounting
functions including statutory and regulatory compliance.
Mr Ho holds a Bachelor of Accountancy (Honours) from
Nanyang Technological University and is a member of the
Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants.

DIRECTOR & GENERAL MANAGER
Mr Momoi joined The Hour Glass (Australia) Pty Ltd in
November 1988 and was subsequently relocated to
Japan to establish The Hour Glass Japan Ltd in July 1996.
With more than 30 years of experience in the retail and
wholesale distribution of luxury and specialty watches,
he is responsible for the strategic planning, business
development and sales and marketing of the company.

SINGAPORE
THE HOUR GLASS LIMITED
MR NG SIAK YONG

SINGAPORE
GLAJZ-THG PTE LTD
MR JOHN GLAJZ

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER
Mr Ng joined the Company in October 2004 and is
responsible for special projects and real estate of the
Group. Mr Ng holds a Bachelor of Accountancy (Honours)
from Nanyang Technological University, a Master of
Business Administration from the University of Strathclyde,
Scotland and is a member of the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants.

MANAGING DIRECTOR
Mr Glajz joined the Company in January 1980 and has
more than 40 years of practical experience in the retail
and wholesale of fine jewellery. His partnership with The
Hour Glass Limited commenced in 1990 through Mondial
Jewellers and after the successful sale of the Mondial
brand and business in 2004, established a new joint
venture vehicle Glajz-THG Pte Ltd. Mr Glajz graduated
with a Bachelor of Arts degree from The Australian
National University.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
		
FY 2022		
				
FINANCIAL RESULTS
Revenue

$’000 		
1,033,404		

FY 2021		
$’000 		
742,931

FY 2020		
$’000 		
749,451

FY2019		

FY2018		

$’000

$’000

720,925

691,645

Operating profit 1

212,551		

119,888

95,994

89,227

65,861

Profit before taxation

204,513		

109,891

95,076

90,049

64,759

Profit after tax

157,012		

84,538

77,359 		

71,404

50,725

FINANCIAL POSITIONS

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

751,599		

679,951

607,752

560,244

507,140

Inventories

254,126		

259,096 		

286,425

286,356

282,479

Cash and bank balances

323,360		

247,872

183,131

180,971

180,496

Loans and borrowings

111,037		

105,121

64,467

14,972

49,655

Free cash flow

181,032		

136,265

68,607

46,931 		

74,181

Net asset value

2

$’000

FINANCIAL RATIOS									
Gross margin (%)

32.7		

29.2

28.8

27.0

24.2

Operating margin (%) 1

20.6		

16.1

12.8

12.4

9.5

Net margin (%)

15.2		

11.4 		

10.3

9.9

7.3

2.7		

2.0

1.9

1.8

1.9

Inventory turnover ratio
Debt / equity ratio (%)
Earnings per share (cents)
Net asset value per ordinary share ($)

14.8		

15.5

10.6

2.7

9.8

22.34		

11.71

10.79 		

9.99

7.07

0.86

0.79

0.72

1.10		

0.97 		

1. Excluding fair value adjustment on investment properties, impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and goodwill.
2. Free cash flow refers to net cash flow from operating activities less operating capital expenditure and payment of lease liabilities.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
REVENUE ($’000)

1,100,000
1,000,000
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300,000
200,000
100,000

FY2018
691,645

FY2019
720,925

FY2020
749,451

FY2021
742,931

FY2022
1,033,404

PROFIT AFTER TAX ($’000)

180,000
160,000
140,000
120,000
100,000
80,000
60,000
40,000
20,000

FY2018
50,725

FY2019
71,404

FY2020
77,359

FY2021
84,538

FY2022
157,012

NET ASSET VALUE ($’000)

800,000
700,000
600,000
500,000
400,000
300,000
200,000
100,000

FY2018
507,140

FY2019
560,244

FY2020
607,752

FY2021
679,951

FY2022
751,599

VISION
Enriching lives with passion by advancing watch culture

ENTERPRISE MISSION
To be the watch world's leading cultural retail enterprise, making it the primary port of
call for all enthusiasts and collectors alike

BUSINESS MISSION
To be an enduring, profitable business organisation that assumes a moderate risk
profile, generating sustainable long term cashflows and returns by continually engaging
in the practice of retail and digital sales and marketing, merchandising and operational
excellence
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS,
For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the
Group recorded a robust 39% increase in sales to
$1.03 billion. This has resulted in our after-tax profit
rising by 86% to $157.0 million. The flourishing
interest in mechanical watches aside, this accomplishment
was only possible because all members in the Group
were aligned, and motivated to meet the series of
qualitative business goals we set for ourselves
5 years ago.
Cash and bank balances rose to $323.4 million. Loans
undertaken exclusively for our portfolio of long-term
property assets stood at $111.0 million, giving the
organisation a net cash position of $212.4 million.
Throughout our operating history, we have injected
moderate leverage into our balance sheet and are only
persuaded to do so in periods where we are certain of
the inherent stability of our operations and
consequently, a low probability that this leverage will
threaten the financial soundness of the Company.
Our business has been built organically with our
earnings. The last time we tapped the capital markets
for funding was more than 35 years ago. As the Group
continues to build its cash generative capabilities and
bolster its equity base, it is important that shareholders
have an appreciation of the principles by which we
deploy our financial resources. The following is the
cascading capital allocation priorities that have
remained largely unchanged since the turn of the
millennium.
A key financial objective of the Board and management
is to constantly seek ways to improve The Hour Glass’
long-term earnings power. At the first instance, we do
so by deploying capital into elevating our corporate
brand equity as a means to broaden our client base,
investing in multiple mid to long-term organisational
development initiatives, deepening our inventory base,
augmenting our watch related businesses through a
combination of nett new boutique openings and,
expanding our boutique network by way of entry into
new markets.

As there is little management desire, nor compelling
push factors for us to enter non-watch related
businesses, our next priority is to acquire prime
commercial retail properties, always with an eye for our
own future use. With this in mind, we have placed an
emphasis on Australian and New Zealand assets, for
good reason.
Firstly, we have a team who have a thorough
understanding of the retail dynamics in these markets
and have the necessary local relationships to generate
strong deal flow. Secondly, legislation governing
property ownership in these two countries are stable
and not discriminatory to Singaporean ownership.
Moreover, the properties we seek to acquire are all
freehold in tenure. From a risk standpoint, our view is
that of all the markets we operate in, Australia and New
Zealand are where we have been able to uncover
compelling investment cases and opportunities. The
deal sizes are within our range, capitalisation rates are
reasonable, and we still produce a positive carry despite
assuming some debt. And as our intention is not to sell
these properties, capital gains taxes are a moot point.
Unless we are prepared to buy entire shopping malls,
we are less able to apply a similar strategy to real estate
acquisitions in South-East Asia and Hong Kong.
The Hour Glass acquired its first building in Australia
thirty years ago and over the ensuing decades, have
continued to channel capital towards building a portfolio
of high-quality, high street retail assets in its key cities.
As our business further develops in the two markets of
Australia and New Zealand, we are confident of utilising
the properties we have acquired. It had been the case in
a couple of instances where our tenants vacated the
property at their own volition or, as we had experienced
during COVID-19, requested to pre-terminate their
lease. In these cases, we have always opted to occupy
the retail tenancy for our own business operations.
There is however a caveat to this strategy. Should a
qualitative long-term tenant be in place when we
purchase the property and, at the point in time when
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
the lease is concluding and we do not have an
immediate need for the retail tenancy, we may opt to
extend the lease for the tenant.
Following from that, in the rare instance we are unable
to find attractive opportunities in the real estate sector,
we may decide to allocate capital to both private and
public equities.
Finally, we have a mandate to return capital to
shareholders via share buybacks and ordinary dividends.
Throughout this financial year, the Group repurchased
$34.1 million of our ordinary shares and remain on an
opportunistic footing with our share re-purchases.
On a consolidated net asset basis, The Hour Glass
increased its corporate net worth by $71.6 million to
$751.6 million or $1.10 per share. During the financial
year, an interim dividend of 2 cents per ordinary share,
amounting to $13.7 million was paid. Considering the
improved operating performance across all our business
units, the Board of Directors are pleased to recommend
a final dividend of 6 cents per ordinary share. Together
with the interim dividend, the total dividend for FY2022
is $54.5 million.

GENERAL COMMENTARY
The two-and-a-half years since the COVID-19 pandemic
began have been a spectacular boom for the specialty
luxury watch sector. My long-term business partners,
including several who have been involved in the trade
since before the Quartz Crisis of the 1970s, describe the
current period as the biggest expansionary phase they
have witnessed occurring in this industry. I concur.
Export numbers for the Swiss watch industry – typically a
proxy for the global luxury-watch industry – illustrate the
macro trends well. These are published on a monthly
and annual basis by trade body – Federation of the
Swiss Watch Industry. Overall watch exports from
Switzerland stood at CHF20.5 billion in value and 20.6
million units in 2019. After a precipitous decline in 2020
due to lockdowns, the numbers recovered with a
vengeance. The value of Swiss watch exports in 2021

was CHF21.2 billion. But the volume of exports was a
mere 15.7 million units, or a decline of 25%. From 2019
to 2021, Swiss watches in every category of export value
declined in both volume and value – except for those
over CHF3,000.
These numbers illustrate exactly what is happening in
the watch industry – demand for high-end watches is so
voracious that supply cannot keep up, while low-end
watches are being decimated by connected watches. As
an example, the aggregate demand for the watches of a
prestige brand we represent rose from 3.2 times of our
annual allocation in 2019 to 7.0 times in 2021 – rising
even further to an annualised 12.6 times by the middle
of 2022. This level of overall interest is unprecedented
and has been further exacerbated by supply shortages.
That in turn has driven up secondary-market prices for
watches, pulling more new people into the hobby.
Reflecting a trend seen in other categories of luxury
goods, the genesis of the current market lies in the
various lockdowns of 2020 that happened one after
another across the world – and the accompanying
quantitative easing unleashed by central banks was the
rocket that the industry rode into the stratosphere.
While the severity of national lockdowns varied
substantially, they generally meant that people were
cooped up at home, leaving them plenty of time to
pursue old hobbies and take up new ones. Social media
and online resources functioned as a gateway into
hobbies, providing both information and “hype”, a
platform to “flex”, and occasionally a sense of
community. The ample spare time during lockdowns is
also a crucial reason behind the rise in demand for
independent artisanal watchmakers. Historically, such
brands required acquiring a depth of knowledge to
appreciate their virtues, which was doable during the
lengthy downtime over the two years when the
pandemic was its most severe.
And besides time, there’s the money.
The immense quantities of money injected into
economies by national governments put cash into the
hands of consumers as intended, but the consequent
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spike in luxury-goods demand was certainly unforeseen
and continues to rise across Asia despite the war in
Ukraine and the recent decline in global equities and
cryptocurrencies.

falling almost 28% on a month-on-month basis.
And with Chinese buyers in Mainland China and Hong
Kong responsible for up to 25% of global watch sales in
the years before 2020, many brands are now trying to
gently reduce their dependence on these markets.

TRAVEL SPEND
FINANCIALISATION OF WATCHES
Unsurprisingly, one key segment of the industry that
continues to struggle is travel retail. Even though travel
has resumed with a good degree of normalcy in most of
the world, it appears that the recovery of travel retail will
be long tailed. For one, brands have realised that it is
safer to sell to native clients domestically, for whatever
happens in the future, the local buyers will likely be
stuck in-country. Some brands got here earlier than
others, with Patek Philippe sounding the trumpet as far
back as 2016. At the same time, most of the industry
expects that Chinese travellers will not leave the
country’s borders until at least 2024. Before the
pandemic, the high-spending Chinese traveller
accounted for as much as 85% of the global specialty
travel retail turnover. That spend is now being redirected
to Hainan Island, a duty-free paradise that was booming
just before the recent 2022 lockdowns in China.
Watch brands however are not overly concerned,
because most have developed a strong base of local
clients in the last two years. Even in Hong Kong, perhaps
the world’s most battered watch market, signs of life
have resolutely taken hold. Though the overall market
size in Hong Kong has consolidated, the spend of local
clients has risen dramatically. And my conversations with
prominent property developers in the territory reveal
strong optimism on their part – they all hold an
unshakable belief in the future of the city
post-pandemic, and we share a similar view.
The same holds true for China, where despite the
pandemic, this group of former globetrotters were
shopping with gusto before the lockdowns. Watches
that would have been sent to Hong Kong or Paris in the
past – to be purchased by Chinese tourists – were
instead directed to the mainland. However, the closure
of large swathes of the Chinese economy in 2022 has
dented demand with Swiss watch exports to China

The wave of interest and accompanying escalation in
values have led to a newfound perception of watches as
more than objects of historical and cultural value, but
financial assets in themselves. The proof of this, as they
say, is in the pudding. Professional investors, namely
venture capital and private equity, have invested several
hundred million dollars over the last two years in
pre-owned watch merchants and aggregated online
selling platforms. The growth of the secondary market
also inadvertently constrains supply, since the watches
sitting in pre-owned dealer inventories are not on the
wrists of consumers. Outside investors have also nudged
the pre-owned watch industry towards greater
financialisation, leading to the adoption of instruments
like “buy-now-pay-later” schemes, loans against
purchases, and guaranteed buybacks, which are
essentially put options. Established auction houses such
as Sotheby’s have also spearheaded similar services for
their clients to increase business flow.

THE NEW CLIENT
An article in The New York Times that was published at
the time of writing this letter captured the zeitgeist
perfectly. Titled ‘The World’s a Mess. So They’ve
Stopped Saving for Tomorrow.’, the article went on to
describe how “many adults under 35 have stopped
playing it safe… they’re saving less, spending more and
pursuing passion projects or risky careers.” Much of the
new demand comes from ever-younger buyers who are
pursuing ever more expensive timepieces, a
phenomenon echoed in other “hype” collectible
categories like sneakers and contemporary art.
Our average client is now about 30% younger than
before the pandemic. Youth, as we all know, brings with
it impatience and the desire for immediate gratification.
The wealth created during the pandemic has made all
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those youthful ambitions a reality. “Crypto bro” is a
cliché, but to an extent it rings true for a good number
of watch buyers at the top end of the market.
Herein lies an opportunity for The Hour Glass to
cultivate our next generation of clients. The pace of
acquisition by many new buyers means that they often
have not yet developed the experience or acquired the
knowledge to be true connoisseurs. This therefore
allows us to educate and inform, and in doing so, build
client loyalty. Given the youth of many new clients, this
demographic will be able to consume for decades to
come and it is our intent to ensure their interest in
watches holds up.

SUPPLY HICCUPS
Watchmakers have, predictably, responded to this surge
in purchasing desire by attempting to increase supply.
The ambitions to boost production are especially
pronounced with high-end independent brands – mostly
those with an average retail price of six figures – but
those ambitions have collided with reality.
As with producers in other sectors, supply chain
disruptions for watch components are hampering the
ability to create product in watchmaking. Lead times for
the average manufacturer have lengthened from 6
months or so to 12-18 months. That is oftentimes a
consequence of a shortage for seemingly trivial parts: a
chief executive of one of the top ten largest brands
revealed to me in May 2022 that they had 20,000
watches that could not be shipped that month simply
due to an insufficient supply of buckles for their watch
straps!

WHERE DO WE GO FROM HERE?
Notwithstanding the industry’s outperformance over the
past two years, the outlook is now clouded, most
prominently by runaway inflation and the possibility of
aggressive hikes in interest rates by central bankers the
world over. Much of how it unfolds will depend on
central bankers keeping their promises to raise rates, or
perhaps they were just talking inflation down with the

prospect of drastic rate hikes. Barring any major,
unexpected events, we believe the scenario with the
highest probability is moderated growth, but still
growth. This is especially so given that we represent the
most important names in Swiss watchmaking, with
partnerships that go back decades.
We believe that the prudent expansion plans advocated
by our key partners is the way to sustainable growth.
Measured increases in production will help meet
demand – already diminished by recent geopolitical
events – and tamper down secondary market prices.
And if there is a bust, the overhang of production will be
manageable.

THE SECRET TO SUCCESS IS CONSTANCY TO
PURPOSE
More than once, I have expressed to our team the
fortune we have in being a part of this incredible
industry, and even more so during the pandemic and
this subsequent period of grave global geopolitical and
macro-economic upheaval. Save for a troubling 2 years
in the aftermath of the 1997 Asian financial crisis where
The Hour Glass experienced operating losses from our
ownership of two Swiss watchmaking brands – Gerald
Genta and Daniel Roth – since inception, our specialty
watch retail business has always remained profitable.
I harken back to a conversation I had with Philippe Stern in
the year 2000 when he was still the President of Patek
Philippe. Philippe advised me that if one wished to secure
a leadership position in this industry, the pre-requisite was
that one had to focus singularly on seeking excellence in
whatever our “metier” was. He taught me that each one of
us in the watch industry value chain had one purpose.
Patek Philippe’s is to make the world’s best watches and
then distribute them to the best watch retailers in the
world. In that same vein, The Hour Glass’ focus should be
striving for excellence in the field of specialty watch
retailing and cultivating and caring for its clients. I took his
advice to heart and acted on it. We subsequently
divested our two Swiss watch manufacturers and
redirected all our resources to enhance our core business
of watch retailing, a position we continue to maintain.
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Today, The Hour Glass has not just built the brick and
mortar network we need to further grow our business,
we have also developed the critical mental, cultural and
technological infrastructures of the organisation. Pouring
capital into opening retail stores is a simple exercise.
What is challenging to replicate and to sustain at the
highest level, is the operational excellence required in
managing a boutique’s daily operations. To run our
business well, we also need a strong and ever-growing
pool of managerial talent who have accumulated
sufficient wisdom to navigate the cyclicality of demand
and harness a growth mindset.
The current team will not be leading this business
forever and so, I am delighted that our inaugural
platoon sized cohort of prospective managerial
candidates recently completed their three-year skills and
management training programme, graduating with
glowing results. They have been tasked with three
objectives. To serve the needs of our brand partners
and the watch industry, to continue growing
communities of enthusiasts and to advance the
understanding and passion of these beautiful
timekeeping objects. These graduates give me great
comfort that The Hour Glass’ future is in safe hands.

ROUNDING OFF
I wish to extend my sincere gratitude to the board,
management, and team at The Hour Glass. The team
had persevered in the most challenging of times. We
are also privileged because of the confidence and
support afforded by our historic brand partners – Rolex,
Patek Philippe and Hublot. It is because of them that we
could attain this set of strong financial results.
We often hear the word “relationship” bandied about in
this business. Human connectivity in any business
context is important and in the watch business, plays a
salient role in the longevity of brand and retailer
partnerships. But one would be remiss to presume that
these intangible tethers are absolute. Relationships are
important in so far that the counter party has
demonstrated qualifications to privilege from that
relationship. For a specialist watch retailer, the

pre-conditions for any enduring business relationship
are integrity, competence, enduring positive qualitative
and quantitative performance and, the ability to
understand and anticipate the needs of both our
partners and clients.
In my 2016 Chairman’s statement, I had identified that
the industry was undergoing transformational shifts that
were fracturing historic distribution networks, with
brands rationalising their distribution in mature markets
whilst marginally expanding their footprint in new and
emerging watch markets. This development has
continued to gather momentum. If The Hour Glass is to
overcome this period of transition, we must truly shine
at what we do. And if that isn’t enough, then at least we
can appreciate that it is not because of the quality of our
people and performance but the strategic impulses of
our brand partners.
In closing, I wish to commend Jean-Frederic Dufour, in
his capacity as President of the Watches and Wonders
2022 exhibiting committee and our other key partners
for ensuring that the collegial spirit within the industry
was fortified and produced a most successful, first of its
kind watch fair. All brands played a role in this historic
event and even though it was the most intense fair I had
ever attended, I left Geneva satiated and optimistic for
the future of this industry.

HENRY TAY YUN CHWAN
Executive Chairman
31 May 2022
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The Hour Glass Limited is committed to ensuring a high
standard of corporate governance within the Company,
its subsidiaries and significant associates. This report
describes the corporate governance practices and
activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”)
for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 (“FY2022”).
The Company’s corporate governance practices and
activities in relation to each of the principles of the Code
of Corporate Governance 2018 (“Code”) are set out in
the following segments. The Company has complied
with the principles of the Code and substantially all
its provisions, save for variations from Provision 2.2
(majority of independent directors where the Chairman is
non-independent), Provision 8.1 (disclosure on
remuneration of individual directors and key management
personnel), Provision 10.2 (composition of audit
committee) and Provision 11.4 (absentia voting at general
meetings), which are explained in this report. Unless
otherwise stated, the corporate governance processes
were in place during the financial year.

responsibility for corporate governance, sustainability
direction and identifying key stakeholder groups whose
perceptions can affect the Group’s reputation and
ensuring that obligations to shareholders and other
stakeholders are understood and met. The Board sets
the tone from the top for matters such as values and
standards (including ethical business practices).
The Board has put in place financial authorisation limits
for operating and capital budgets, procurement of
goods and services, and cheque signatory arrangements.
Approval sub-limits are also provided at management
level to facilitate operational efficiency. Matters that are
specifically reserved for the Board’s decision include
interested person transactions, material acquisitions and
disposals of assets, corporate or financial restructuring,
share issuances and dividend payments to shareholders,
and other transactions of a material nature requiring
announcement under the listing rules of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). The
Board also approves the half-year and full-year financial
results for release to the SGX-ST.

BOARD MATTERS
THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS
Principle 1: The Company is headed by an effective
Board which is collectively responsible and works with
Management for the long-term success of the Company.
The Board is entrusted with the overall management of
the business affairs of the Company, and sets the overall
strategy and policies on the Group’s business direction
and long-term sustainability. The Board is accountable
to shareholders while management is accountable to
the Board for the performance of the Group. The Board
reviews significant investment and divestment proposals,
funding decisions, financial performance and key
operational initiatives, and oversees the implementation
of appropriate systems to manage the Group’s business
risks. Other functions include considering and approving
appointments and re-appointments to the Board,
reviewing management performance and reviewing and
endorsing the recommended framework of remuneration
for the Board and key executives. The Board also assumes

In the discharge of its functions, the Board is supported
by specialty Board committees that provide independent
oversight of management, and which also serve to ensure
that there are appropriate checks and balances. These
key committees are the Audit Committee (“AC”) and
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”).
The NRC was formed on 30 July 2018 following the
amalgamation of the Nominating Committee (“NC”)
and Remuneration Committee (“RC”) into a single Board
committee to promote efficiency and effectiveness. In
particular, it allows for holistic review of remuneration
matters alongside succession/development of the Board
and key management within the one Board committee.
Each of the two key Board committees supporting the
Board, namely, the AC and the NRC, has its own written
terms of reference setting out its composition, authorities
and duties (including reporting back to the Board). These
are reviewed periodically to ensure their continued
relevance, and any revisions require the Board’s approval.
Consequent upon the SGX-ST’s replacement of
its previous reporting requirement based on market
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capitalisation with the risk-based approach to quarterly
reporting effective from 7 February 2020, the Board
adjusted the frequency of its meetings to at least twice
a year (previously, at least four times a year) concurrent
with the Company’s transition from quarterly reporting
to semi-annual reporting in FY2021. Board and Board
committee meetings, as well as the Annual General
Meeting of the Company (“AGM”), are scheduled prior
to the start of each financial year. In addition to scheduled
Board meetings, ad hoc meetings are convened as and
when circumstances require. Between scheduled and
any ad hoc meetings of the Board, matters arising that
require the Board’s attention are circulated for approval
and/or notation to the Board members with supporting
documentation. The Board met three times during the
financial year. To facilitate the Board’s decision-making
process, the Company’s Constitution provides for
directors to participate in Board meetings by conference
telephone and similar communications equipment, and
for Board resolutions to be passed in writing, including
by electronic means. The matrix of Board members’
participation and attendance record at meetings of the
Board and the specialty Board committees during the
financial year is provided at the end of this report. This
also reflects a Board member’s additional responsibilities
and special focus on the respective Board committees.

letter of appointment setting out the director’s duties
and obligations, and a toolkit for the director relating
to certain time-sensitive disclosures such as interests
in securities, conflicts of interest in transactions, and
interested person transactions. No new director was
appointed during the financial year.

All incoming directors and senior executives are briefed
on the Group’s operations and furnished with information
on the Group’s corporate governance practices at the
time of appointment as part of their induction, orientation
and training, and thereafter are routinely updated on
developments and changes in the operating environment,
including revisions to accounting standards, listing
rules, and laws and regulations affecting the Company
and/or the Group. Any newly appointed director with no
prior experience as a listed company director is required
to undergo the prescribed training in compliance with
Rule 210 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST (“Listing
Manual”), unless the NRC is of the view that training
is not required because the new director has other
relevant experience. Where necessary, the Company
will arrange training for a first-time director in areas such
as accounting, legal and industry-specific knowledge. A
newly appointed director will be provided with a formal

whistleblowing policy and new disclosures relating to
climate change and board diversity policy, and various
practice guidance issued by the SGX-ST on topical issues
such as the new reporting format for interim financial results.
In addition, pursuant to new Rule 720(7) of the Listing
Manual (which took effect on 1 January 2022), all directors
will have to undergo training on sustainability matters as
prescribed by the SGX-ST (unless the NRC is of the view that
training is not required because the relevant director has
expertise in sustainability matters), and a confirmation that
the directors have attended the mandatory sustainability
training has to be provided in the first sustainability
report for the financial year commencing on or after
1 January 2022, which, in relation to the Company will be in
respect of the financial year commencing on 1 April 2022.

Where there are changes in the Board membership or
senior executive appointments in the Group, appropriate
announcements are made by the Company via SGXNET
in accordance with applicable requirements of the Listing
Manual which include, in the case of cessation of directors
or key management persons, detailed reason(s) for the
cessation.
At the request of directors, the Company will fund
directors’ participation at industry conferences, seminars
or training programmes in connection with their duties
as directors of the Company. The Company brings
to the directors’ attention, information on seminars
that may be of relevance or use to them. To further
their understanding of the Group’s business and
operating environment, non-executive directors are
invited to management off-site meetings. During the
financial year, the directors were briefed on, among
other developments, changes to the listing rules of the
SGX-ST pertaining to enhanced disclosures on an issuer’s

Each director, as a fiduciary, has to act objectively, in
good faith and in the best interests of the Company at
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all times in the exercise of his or her duties and powers
as a director. Where a director has an interest in a matter
which may conflict with the director’s duties to the
Company, such director declares the interest and recuses
himself or herself from the discussion and abstains from
voting on the matter. Directors are expected to attend
(including via conference telephone, unless due to
scheduling conflicts or illness) and actively participate at
Board and Board committee meetings, and ensure that
sufficient time and attention are given to the Company’s
affairs.
Directors are provided with complete, adequate and
timely information prior to Board meetings and on
an on-going basis to enable them to make informed
decisions to discharge their duties and responsibilities.
In general, the agenda and board papers which set out,
amongst other things, management information such
as financial performance, budgets, financial position,
capital expenditure and operational statistics, are sent
to all directors at least five days in advance of each
scheduled Board meeting. Any material variance between
budgets, projections and actual results are disclosed
and explained. Senior managers who have prepared
the papers, or who can provide additional insight on
the matters to be discussed, are normally invited to
attend and present the paper during the Board meeting.
Relevant information on material events and transactions
are circulated to the Board members as and when they
arise. Additional information is provided to directors,
as and when needed or requested, to enable them
to keep abreast of the Group’s performance, position
and prospects. Management continued to leverage
on the Company’s business continuity plan during the
financial year and kept the Board regularly informed
about developments, both locally and overseas, which
enabled the Company to make timely decisions to
mitigate the COVID-19 pandemic’s impact on the Group’s
operations and plan accordingly as various countries
eased restrictions on travel and/or physical interactions
to reduce COVID-19 transmission risk.
Non-executive directors have separate and independent
access to the executive directors, management and the
company secretary, and vice versa. Where necessary, the

Company will, upon the request of directors (whether as
a group or individually), provide them with independent
professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to enable
them to discharge their duties. The Chief Financial Officer
assists the directors in obtaining such advice.
The chairman of the Board is assisted by the company
secretary in ensuring that Board procedures are followed.
The company secretary’s duties include attending Board
meetings to take minutes and communicating changes
in listing rules or other regulations affecting corporate
governance and compliance where appropriate. The
Company’s Constitution provides for the appointment
and removal of the company secretary by the Board.
BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE
Principle 2: The Board has an appropriate level of
independence and diversity of thought and background
in its composition to enable it to make decisions in the
best interests of the Company.
Independent non-executive directors make up more than
one-third of the Board. The Board currently has seven
members, consisting of three independent non-executive
directors, two non-independent non-executive directors
and two executive directors. None of the directors has an
alternate director.
With effect from 1 January 2022, pursuant to Rule 210(5)(d)(iii)
of the Listing Manual (which stipulates a nine-year tenure
for independent directors), Mr Kuah Boon Wee (who
was first appointed as a director on 1 April 2011) was
re-designated from independent non-executive director
to non-independent non-executive director.
Under Provision 2.2 of the Code, independent directors
should make up a majority of the Board where the
Chairman is non-independent, that is, when (among
others) he is not an independent director or is part of the
management team. As the Company’s chief executive,
the Executive Chairman heads the senior management
team. With Mr Kuah’s re-designation to non-independent
non-executive director with effect from 1 January 2022,
the number of independent directors comprises three out
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of seven members of the Board. Notwithstanding this,
the NRC is of the view that the independent component
of the Board (comprising three members of the Board)
continues to be effective in providing a balance to the
executive component of the Board, which comprises
two members of the Board. Furthermore, the current
number of independent directors is in compliance with
Rule 210(5) of the Listing Manual which requires, from
1 January 2022, at least one-third of the Board to
comprise independent directors.
The Board has adopted the definition in the Code of what
constitutes an independent director, having regard also
to the relevant Listing Manual provisions on directors’
independence. Under the Code, a director is considered
independent if he or she is independent in conduct,
character and judgement, and has no relationship with
the Company, its related corporations, its substantial
shareholders or its officers that could interfere or be
reasonably perceived to interfere with the exercise of his
or her independent judgement in the best interest of the
Company. Under the Listing Manual, a director will not be
independent if such individual is employed by the issuer
or any of its related corporations in the current or any of
the past three financial years, or if such individual has any
immediate family member who is employed or has been
employed by the issuer or any of its related corporations
in the current or any of the past three financial years,
and whose remuneration is or was determined by the
remuneration committee of the issuer, or if a director
who has been a director for an aggregate period of more
than nine years and whose continued appointment as an
independent director has not been sought and approved
in separate resolutions by (a) all shareholders; and (b) all
shareholders, excluding shareholders who also serve as
the directors or chief executive officer of the issuer, and
their respective associates. As the above listing rules
do not apply to any of the independent non-executive
directors holding office during the financial year, they are
considered independent under the Listing Manual.
The independence of each independent member of
the Board is reviewed annually and as and when
circumstances require. The NRC assists the Board with
such reviews. In its annual review of the independence of

the directors, the NRC has determined that they are each
independent in character, conduct and judgement, and
there are no material relationships (including immediate
family relationships) between each independent
non-executive director and the other directors or
the Company, its related corporations, its substantial
shareholders or its officers. Each of the independent
non-executive directors has served on the Board for less
than nine years as at 31 March 2022.
The independent non-executive members of the Board
comprise seasoned professionals with management,
financial, accounting, investment, private equity, retail
and commercial backgrounds. This enables the executive
directors and management to benefit from their external
and objective perspectives of issues that are brought
before the Board. It also provides a broad spectrum of
business acumen and skill set to help shape the strategic
process, monitor the performance of management
and operate as an appropriate check and balance. The
Company believes that it has effective independent
non-executive directors, including a lead independent
director, to provide balance within the workings of the
Board and oversight for minority shareholders’ interests.
Individually and as a group, they express individual
viewpoints, debate issues, objectively scrutinise the
development of strategic proposals and constructively
challenge management. In addition, the non-executive
directors assist the Board in reviewing the performance
of management in meeting agreed goals and objectives,
and monitoring the reporting of performance. It is hence
felt that it is not necessary, in the circumstances, for an
independent non-executive chairman.
The Board endeavours to achieve an optimal balance and
mix in its composition. The Company’s board diversity
policy seeks to ensure that the Board will comprise
directors appointed based on merit, who as a group
possesses an appropriate balance and combination
of business experience, skills, commitment and other
relevant qualities. The Board is of the view that its current
composition comprises persons who, as a group, provide
the appropriate balance and diversity of skills, experience
and knowledge of the Company, as well as necessary
core competencies including in finance, management
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experience, industry knowledge, strategic planning
experience and customer-based experience. The Board
also has regard to other factors such as age, gender,
tenure, cultural and educational background, which
can contribute to the quality of its decision-making.
The Board composition is assessed periodically taking
into consideration the board diversity policy and the
current and mid-term needs and goals of the Group.
In appointing successors to retiring directors, the
Board has appointed new directors who bring other
strategic business and experience to the Board. This
allows different perspectives to be brought into Board
discussions and review of the Group’s business and
operations. The Company will continue to decide on
appointments to the Board having regard to the merit of
candidates and believes that doing so will be consistent
with achieving a diversity of perspectives described
above.

NAME OF DIRECTOR
AGE*
		

The Board considers the current Board size and
composition, including that of its committees, to be
appropriate, taking into consideration the nature
and scope of the Group’s operations, the number of
independent members, the requirements of the business
and the need for an orderly and phased rejuvenation
process to avoid undue disruptions from changes to the
composition of the Board and/or Board committees. The
size and composition of Board committees is structured
to ensure an equitable distribution of responsibilities
among Board members, maximise the effectiveness of
the Board and foster active participation and contribution.
The profiles of the directors, including listed company
directorships and principal commitments, are set out
under the section “Board of Directors” in the Annual
Report. Additional information on the Board members
is set out below.

DATE FIRST APPOINTED
AS DIRECTOR

DATE LAST RE-APPOINTED/
RE-ELECTED AS DIRECTOR

Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan

78

11 Aug 1979

25 Jul 2019

Mr Michael Tay Wee Jin

46

15 Aug 2005

28 Aug 2020

Dr Kenny Chan Swee Kheng

68

1 Apr 2004

25 Jul 2019

Mr Lock Wai Han

55

1 Oct 2020

28 Jul 2021

Mr Kuah Boon Wee

55

1 Apr 2011

28 Jul 2021

Mr Liew Choon Wei

68

1 Apr 2017

28 Aug 2020

Mr Jeffry Lee Yu Chern

58

1 Oct 2017

28 Jul 2021

* As at the Company’s upcoming AGM on 29 July 2022.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Principle 3: There is a clear division of responsibilities
between the leadership of the Board and Management,
and no one individual has unfettered powers of
decision-making.
Dr Henry Tay is a co-founder of The Hour Glass and he
is regarded as a controlling shareholder of the Company.
Dr Henry Tay is the Executive Chairman of the Company,
and Mr Michael Tay is the Group Managing Director of
the Company. Mr Michael Tay is the son of Dr Henry Tay

and a nephew of Dr Kenny Chan. Dr Kenny Chan is a
non-independent non-executive director, and was
previously a Group Managing Director and executive
director of the Company until his retirement from active
service with effect from 31 March 2020.
The Board establishes and sets out in writing the division
of responsibilities between the Executive Chairman and
the Group Managing Director. The Executive Chairman
provides leadership to the Board, and the Group
Managing Director reports to the Board. The Executive
Chairman and the Group Managing Director take an
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active role in management and overseeing the Group’s
operations, providing a division of executive responsibility
and authority in the Company. At the operational
level, the Executive Chairman heads the senior
management team and the Group Managing Director
has executive responsibility for the overall operations and
administration of the Group. This provides decisiveness
and clarity in the implementation of corporate policies
and objectives, and serves to align the interests of the
majority stakeholder with those of minority shareholders
in the Company’s goals for enhancing shareholder value.
As part of his administrative duties, the Executive
Chairman ensures that Board meetings are held when
necessary, sets the Board meeting agenda in consultation
with, among others, the Group Managing Director and
Chief Financial Officer and ensures that there is adequate
time available for discussion of all agenda items. The
Executive Chairman promotes a culture of openness
and debate at meetings of the Board, encourages
constructive relationships among members of the Board
and between the Board and management, fosters
effective communication with shareholders at the general
meetings of the Company and facilitates contributions
of the non-executive directors. He also reviews Board
papers on significant issues before they are presented to
the Board and ensures that Board members are provided
with complete, adequate and timely information, and that
formalities and procedures are observed.
Mr Lock Wai Han was appointed as the lead independent
director with effect from 1 January 2022. Mr Lock is
also a member of the NRC. Mr Kuah Boon Wee (the
then chairman of the NRC) was the lead independent
director up till 31 December 2021. The role of the lead
independent director is to be available to shareholders
where they have concerns and for which contact
through normal channels of the Executive Chairman
or other members of senior management has failed to
provide satisfactory resolution, or when such contact
is inappropriate. The lead independent director will
meet with the other independent members of the Board
without the presence of the executive directors as and
when necessary and provide relevant feedback to the
Executive Chairman.

BOARD MEMBERSHIP AND PERFORMANCE
Principle 4: The Board has a formal and transparent
process for the appointment and re-appointment of
directors, taking into account the need for progressive
renewal of the Board.
Principle 5: The Board undertakes a formal annual
assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and that of
each of its board committees and individual directors.
The NRC currently has three members and is chaired by
Mr Jeffry Lee Yu Chern (effective from 1 January 2022).
The other members of the NRC are Mr Kuah Boon Wee
(who was the chairman of the NRC until 31 December
2021) and Mr Lock Wai Han. The NRC currently comprises
two independent non-executive directors and one
n o n - i n d e p e n d e n t n o n - e x e c u t i v e d i re c t o r. T h e
composition is in keeping with the Code and the NRC’s
terms of reference, that is, the NRC should comprise
at least three directors, all non-executive, and the
majority of whom, including the NRC chairman should
be independent. The NRC met once during the financial
year. Between scheduled and any ad hoc meetings of
the NRC, matters arising that require the NRC’s attention
are circulated for approval and/or notation to the NRC
members with supporting documentation.
In relation to nominations, the principal functions of
the NRC are to make recommendations to the Board
on appointments, including re-appointments, and the
Company’s succession and leadership development
plans, in particular for the Chairman, the Group Managing
Director and other key management personnel. The NRC
also reviews the adequacy of training and professional
development programmes for the Board and directors.
In relation to assessment of board performance and
effectiveness, the NRC recommends for the Board’s
approval, the process and criteria for evaluating the
performance of the Board, its committees and directors.
The NRC is responsible for reviewing the independence
of Board members who are independent directors
upon appointment, and thereafter annually or
whenever circumstances require, in accordance with the
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requirements of the Listing Manual and the provisions
of the Code. Independent directors submit annual
declarations on their independence to the NRC and are
required to notify the NRC promptly of any relationships
or circumstances which arise that are likely to affect, or
could appear to affect, the director’s independence.
The NRC is also responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board and Board
committees. Regular reviews are made by the NRC in
consultation with the Executive Chairman. The selection
of candidates for new appointments to the Board as
part of the Board's renewal process is policy-based and
includes prerequisites such as independent mindedness,
core competencies which meet the current needs of the
Company and complement the skills and competencies
of the existing directors, experience in high-performing
organisations, track record and business acumen. The
Company endeavours to include female candidates
in its search pool. Due consideration is also given to
whether a candidate has previously served on boards
of companies with adverse track records or a history of
irregularities, and whether a candidate’s resignation from
the board of any such company would cast any doubt
on his or her ability to act as a director of the Company.
Candidates are evaluated taking into account various
factors including the current and mid-term needs and
goals of the Company, as well as the relevant expertise
of the candidates and their potential contributions
to the Board, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board including age, gender, cultural
and education background and skill set. Candidates
may be put forward or sought through contacts and
recommendations. The NRC is empowered to use the
services of external advisers to facilitate the search as
it deems necessary. The criteria for appointment of a
new Board member will be underscored by the board
diversity policy and the need to shape the Board in line
with the medium-term needs of the Company and its
strategic goals and business direction for the Group.
In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, at each
AGM, one-third, or the number nearest to, but not less
than, one-third, of the directors are to retire from office
by rotation. The directors to retire in the relevant year by

rotation shall be those longest in office since their last
re-election or appointment and as between persons who
became or were last re-elected directors on the same
day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot. A retiring
director shall be eligible for re-election. A new director
who joins the Board after an AGM holds office only
until, and is eligible for re-election at, the next AGM.
Factors which are taken into consideration for the
re-appointment of the directors include not only
the directors’ attendance and participation at Board
meetings and Board committee meetings in the
financial year under review, but also whether the Board
and management have benefited from an open and
healthy exchange of views and ideas. The renewal of
a director’s Board membership recognises the value
of that individual to the Board and the Company,
and the director’s continued contribution to the
on-going needs of the Company and its business.
A director’s calibre, experience, stature and skills as
well as such individual’s ability to contribute to the
proper governance and stewardship of the Company
and its operations are important qualities, albeit not
capable of precise valuation or measurement, nor
need such contributions necessarily be confined to the
boardroom. Contributions by a director can take many
forms, including providing objective perspectives on
issues, facilitating business opportunities and strategic
relationships, and accessibility to management
outside of a formal environment of Board and/or
Board committee meetings. The Board has set as a
maximum number, seven other listed company board
representations which a director may concurrently hold
in order that competing time commitments may be
practically managed. A director with multiple board
representations is expected to ensure that sufficient
time and attention is given to the affairs of the
Company. The NRC takes this into consideration when
evaluating whether the individual is able to or has been
adequately discharging his or her duties as a director
of the Company. Likewise, as a director is expected to
be able to commit time to the affairs of the Company,
the NRC would generally not support the appointment
of an alternate director.
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The NRC administers annually, the formal process
adopted by the Board for evaluation of the Board’s
performance as a whole, including Board committees
and the contributions of individual directors, including
that of the chairman of the Board, to the effectiveness
of the Board. The perfor mance criteria include
assessment of the Board’s size and composition, access
to information, processes and accountability and Board
committees’ performance in relation to discharging
their responsibilities set out in their respective terms
of reference, while individual directors are assessed
on the director’s attendance record, preparedness
for meetings, participation level and contribution at
meetings, analytical skills, knowledge as well as overall
contribution to the Board and the Board committees,
as appropriate. Each member of the Board is required
to complete an evaluation form. The NRC collates
the completed forms and compiles a consolidated
report for the Board, in consultation with the Executive
Chairman, before presenting its findings to the Board
for consideration. The Executive Chairman would act
on the results of the performance evaluation where
appropriate. This includes (in consultation with the NRC)
proposing new members to be appointed to the Board
or seeking the resignation of directors. The Board is of
the view that while financial indicators such as share
price performance and return-on-equity may provide
a means of benchmarking the Board’s performance
relative to that of competitors and industry peers,
non-financial indicators such as feedback received
from investors and market analysts also serve as
useful qualitative analysis by external parties. Hence,
financial indicators in themselves do not necessarily fully
measure the long-term success and value creation of the
Company. The Board believes that its performance and
that of individual Board members is reflected in, and
evidenced by, proper guidance, diligent oversight and
able leadership of the Company, and the support that
it lends to management in steering the Company and
the Group in the appropriate direction. Having regard
to its composition and mix, the Board has endeavoured
through each director’s unique contributions and
diversity of experience, to ensure that balanced and
well-considered decisions are made in the best interests
of the Company. The Board is of the view that during the

financial year, its members have performed efficiently
and effectively for the Board to function collectively as
a whole.
The NRC has access to professional advice to facilitate
the evaluation process whenever there is a need to
consult externally. There was no necessity for external
advice to be obtained during the financial year.

REMUNERATION MATTERS
PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION
POLICIES
Principle 6: The Board has a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policies on director and
executive remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration
packages of individual directors and key management
personnel. No director is involved in deciding his or her
own remuneration.
LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION
Principle 7: The level and structure of remuneration
of the Board and key management personnel are
appropriate and proportionate to the sustained
performance and value creation of the Company, taking
into account the strategic objectives of the Company.
DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION
Principle 8: The Company is transparent on its
remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the
procedure for setting remuneration, and the relationship
between remuneration, performance and value creation.
The NRC took over the functions and duties of the RC
from 30 July 2018. The composition and members of
the NRC are set out earlier (under the section “Board
membership and performance”) in this report.
In relation to remuneration and related matters, the NRC’s
primary role is to review, determine and recommend
to the Board, the framework of remuneration, terms
of engagement, compensation and benefits for
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senior executives, including the specific remuneration
packages for executive directors of the Company
and key management personnel. Its functions include
review of senior executive development and succession,
compensation plans and recruitment strategies, and
evaluation of executives’ performance. As part of its
review, the NRC takes into consideration the salary and
employment conditions within the same industry and
in comparable companies. It also considers succession
planning for key management positions in consultation
with the senior management team, including developing
future leaders from within to support the Group’s
long-term strategy and growth. In general, employees
with the requisite competency and leadership potential
are identified and nurtured through functional training,
mentorship and participation in significant projects. Where
there is no suitable internal candidate for a position, the
Group will look to external recruitment. The NRC, in
carrying out its functions, has access to professional advice
on human resource matters whenever there is a need to
consult externally. There was no necessity for external
advice to be obtained during the financial year.
The NRC's review covers all aspects of remuneration but
does not include the annual review and recommendation
of the fees for non-executive directors of the Company
(to be put to shareholders for approval at the AGM),
which is a Board reserved matter. Such fees are set in
accordance with a remuneration framework comprising
basic fees, attendance fees and additional fees for serving
on Board committees and as lead independent director.
In determining the quantum of such fees, factors such as
time spent and responsibilities are taken into account.
Market benchmarking is done periodically to ensure
that the directors’ fees are within market norms and
commensurate with responsibilities of the non-executive
directors. Executive directors do not receive directors’
fees as they are remunerated as executive employees. No
individual director decides his or her own remuneration.

remuneration, the NRC also takes into account the risk
policies of the Company, risk outcomes and time horizon
of risks that might be undertaken. In particular, the NRC
considered and took into account the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the Group’s performance for the
financial year when deciding whether the performance
targets set were still appropriate and whether they should
be revised retrospectively. The employment terms of
executive directors and certain senior key management
personnel stipulate a fixed component in the form of
base salary and a variable component linked to the
pre-tax profits of the reporting entity and include
provisions which entitle the Board to recompute (and,
as applicable, either claw-back or top-up) the incentive
component of their remuneration in the event of an
adjustment made to, or restatement of, the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
relevant financial year (other than due to a change in
applicable accounting standards or interpretation).
The Company’s executive directors are under service
contracts. Their contract renewals and any revisions
are subject to the review and approval of the NRC.
Termination clauses for executive directors and key
management personnel are structured to operate fairly
and reasonably and not be overly generous. As at
31 March 2022, there are no termination, retirement
and post-employment benefits granted to directors and
key management personnel save for the provision of
retirement gratuities for the Executive Chairman. The
Company does not presently operate an employee share
option, share-based or long-term incentive scheme.
The NRC will consider a suitable scheme as and when
it deems necessary. For the present, the NRC is of the
view that current remuneration incentives are adequate
and effective as motivational tools to encourage the
performance and retention of the executive directors and
key management personnel.

The Company adopts an overall remuneration policy
for staff comprising a fixed component in the form of a

Provision 8.1 of the Code provides that the amounts of
remuneration of each individual director be disclosed and
the remuneration of at least the top five key management
personnel (who are not directors) be disclosed in bands

base salary. The variable component is in the form of a
bonus that is linked to the Company’s and the individual’s
performance. When deciding on performance-related

not wider than $250,000. The Company is of the view
that disclosure of the remuneration details of each
director and key management personnel (who are not
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directors) in the manner recommended by the Code will
be detrimental to the Company’s interests, given the
confidential and commercial sensitivities associated with
remuneration matters and the highly competitive human
resource environment in which the Group operates.
Instead, the level and mix of the annual remuneration of
the directors in remuneration bands of $250,000 and the
level of remuneration of the Group’s top six management
personnel (who are not directors) are disclosed at the
end of this report. The aggregate remuneration of the
executive directors and of the top six key management
personnel (who are not directors) for the financial year
were $7,660,145 and $4,030,077, respectively. The
aggregate directors’ fees of $330,000 paid to the
non-executive directors for the financial year was within
the amount of up to $346,000 approved at the AGM on
28 July 2021. During the year, Mrs Choy Siew Sen (an
employee in an Australia subsidiary of the Company)
who is the sister of Dr Kenny Chan, received an annual
remuneration above $200,000 but below $300,000.
All forms of remuneration and other payments and
benefits paid by the Company and its subsidiaries
to directors and key management personnel of the
Company have been disclosed at the end of this
report, the Directors’ Statement and the notes to the
financial statements. The Board responds to queries
from shareholders at AGMs on matters pertaining to
remuneration policies and directors’ remuneration.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
Principle 9: The Board is responsible for the governance
of risk and ensures that Management maintains a sound
system of risk management and internal controls,
to safeguard the interests of the Company and its
shareholders.
The Board oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board recognises
that it is responsible for risk governance and ensuring
that management maintains a sound system of

risk management and internal controls to safeguard
shareholders’ interest and the Group’s assets. The
Board appreciates that risk management is an on-going
process in which senior management and the operational
managers continuously participate to evaluate, monitor
and report to the AC and the Board on significant risks.
The Company has developed and implemented a Board
Assurance Framework which includes an Enterprise Risk
Management Framework to identify the significant risks
facing the Group, the potential impact and likelihood of
those risks occurring, the control effectiveness and action
plans being taken to mitigate those risks. The Company
has also developed a risk governance structure, which
provides details on the roles and responsibilities for the
Board and management in risk monitoring, escalation,
mitigation and reporting.
The Company has established risk appetite statements
and tolerance limits to monitor shifts in its significant risks
and to proactively manage them within acceptable levels.
The Group’s inter nal controls and systems are
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the
integrity and reliability of the financial information and
to safeguard and maintain accountability of its assets.
Relevant procedures are in place to identify significant
risks, including financial, operational, compliance and
information technology risks and evaluate the potential
impact of these risks on the Group. There are also
procedures for the authorisation of capital expenditure
and investments. Comprehensive budgeting systems are
in place to develop annual budgets covering key aspects
of the business. The annual budgets are submitted to the
Board for review and actual performance is compared
with budgets periodically to monitor the Group’s
performance. All directors are provided with half-yearly
management accounts during the financial year.
The Company’s approach to risk management focuses
on ensuring that appropriate controls are in place to
effectively manage those risks. Measures are adopted
to manage such risks, and risk management policies are
monitored by management, and periodically reviewed
and approved by the Board. The internal audit plan is
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developed in conjunction with the Company’s Enterprise
Risk Management Framework and covers those areas
which are considered to pose significant risks to the
Company.
During the financial year, the AC and the Board reviewed
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal
controls in relation to the significant risks, including
financial, operational, compliance and information
technology controls, and risk management systems.
Based on the inter nal controls established and
maintained by the Group, work performed by the
internal and external auditors, and reviews performed
by management, the AC and the Board, the Board, with
the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the
Group’s internal controls and risk management systems
were adequate and effective as at 31 March 2022 to
address financial, operational, information technology
and compliance risks, which the Group considers relevant
to its operations. However, the Board is also aware that
such a system can only provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance that the Group will not be adversely
affected by any event that could be reasonably foreseen
as it strives to achieve its business objectives. The Board
also notes that no system of internal controls and risk
management can provide a complete assurance against
human error, poor judgement in decision-making, losses,
fraud or other irregularities.

Mr Lock Wai Han, an independent non-executive director,
Dr Kenny Chan, a non-independent non-executive
director, and Mr Kuah Boon Wee, who was an
independent director up till 31 December 2021 and
re-designated to non-independent non-executive
director from 1 January 2022 (for further information
on the re-designation, please refer to the section on
“Board composition and guidance” above). The prior
composition of the AC was in keeping with Provision
10.2 of the Code which provides that a majority of the
AC members, including the chairman of the AC, should
be independent directors. The current composition of
the AC, nevertheless, is in keeping with Section 201(B)
of the Companies Act of Singapore (which governs audit
committees of companies listed on the SGX-ST) which
stipulates, inter alia, that (a) the AC shall be composed
of at least three or more members of whom a majority
shall not be (i) executive directors of the Company or
any related corporation; (ii) a spouse, parent, brother,
sister, child or adopted child of an executive director
of the Company or of any related corporation; or
(iii) persons having a relationship which, in the opinion of
the Board, would interfere with the exercise of independent
judgement in carrying out the functions of the AC, and
(b) the chairman of the AC is not an executive director or
employee of the Company or any related corporation.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board is of the view that all AC members who
served during the year under review possess the
relevant expertise to discharge the functions of an AC
objectively. During FY2022, at least two members of
the AC, including the current chairman of the AC, are
qualified chartered accountants. Collectively, the AC
members have extensive experience in accounting,
business administration and management. None of the
AC members was a former partner of the Company’s
existing external auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, within
the two years of his ceasing to be a partner or has any
financial interest in the firm.

Principle 10: The Board has an Audit Committee which
discharges its duties objectively.

The AC’s scope of authority includes the statutory
functions of an audit committee as prescribed under

The AC currently has four members and is chaired by
Mr Liew Choon Wei. The AC currently includes

the Companies Act of Singapore and applicable
listing rules of the SGX-ST. In addition, the AC, under
its terms of reference as delegated by the Board,

In addition, the Board has received assurances from the
Group Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer
that the financial records for the financial year ended
31 March 2022 have been properly maintained, give a
true and fair view of the Group’s operations and finances
and that the Group’s risk management and internal
controls systems are adequate and effective.
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has the responsibility to oversee the Group’s risk
management framework and policies, and the Company’s
whistle-blowing policy. The AC has explicit authority to
investigate any matter within its terms of reference.
During the financial year, the AC met twice. Between
scheduled and any ad hoc meetings of the AC, matters
arising that require the AC’s attention are circulated
for approval and/or notation to the AC members
with supporting documentation. The activities of the
AC include reviewing with the external auditor its
(i) annual audit plan, findings, and recommendations
to management as well as management’s response;
(ii) evaluation of the system of internal accounting
controls; and (iii) audit report. Changes to the accounting
standards and accounting issues which have a direct
impact on the financial statements were reported to
and discussed with the AC at its meetings. During the
financial year, the AC also took into account amendments
to listing rules of the SGX-ST in relation to matters under
the AC’s purview, and took appropriate action where
deemed necessary. These included new Rules 1207(18A)
and 1207(18B) relating to an issuer’s whistleblowing
policy, and new Rule 705(3A) on the preparation of an
issuer’s interim financial statements under applicable
financial reporting standards. The unaudited financial
results of the Group and the Company for the six months
ended 30 September 2021 were the first set of interim
results based on SFRS (I) 1-34 Interim Financial Reporting
and FRG 3: Preparation of Interim Financial Statements
under SFRS (I) 1-34 Interim Financial Reporting, which
are effective for annual reporting period beginning on
1 January 2021. The AC also reviews the assistance given
by management to the external auditor, the scope and
results of the internal audit procedures, the statements
of financial position of the Company and Group, the
consolidated income statement of the Group, significant
financial reporting issues and judgements as well as the
half-year and full-year results prior to their submission
to the Board, the assurances from management on the
financial records and financial statements, and (where
applicable) interested person transactions. If a firm other
than the external auditor is appointed as auditor of any
unlisted Singapore-incorporated subsidiary or significant
associate, the AC together with the Board would have to

be satisfied that it would not compromise the standard
and effectiveness of the Company's audit by the external
auditor. The AC also recommends the appointment or
re-appointment of the external auditor, and takes into
consideration the scope and results of the audit and its
cost effectiveness (including remuneration and terms
of engagement) and the independence of the external
auditor.
In the review of the financial statements, the AC
discussed with management the accounting principles
that were applied and their judgement of items that
might affect the integrity of the financial statements. The
AC also considered the clarity of disclosures on significant
matters in the financial statements. Among other matters,
the following key audit matters as reported by the
external auditor for the year ended 31 March 2022 were
reviewed and discussed by the AC with management and
the external auditor:
•
•
•

Allowance for inventories
Valuation of investment properties
Goodwill impairment testing

Following the review and discussion, the AC was satisfied
with the approach and appropriateness of methodologies
used by management, as adopted and disclosed in the
financial statements, and recommendation was made by
the AC to the Board to approve the financial statements.
The AC has undertaken a review of all non-audit services
provided by the external auditor during the financial
year, and is of the view that they would not affect the
independence of the external auditor. The aggregate
amount of audit and non-audit fees paid to the external
auditor in the year under review can be found in note
8 to the financial statements of the Annual Report. The
Company has complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the
Listing Manual in relation to its auditing firms.
The AC members take steps to keep abreast of the
changes to accounting standards and issues which have a
direct impact on financial statements through attendance
at briefings by the external auditor or other professionals.
The AC has full access to and co-operation of the
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Company’s management and the internal auditor and
has full discretion to invite any executive director or
officer to attend its meetings. Both the internal and
external auditors have unrestricted access to the AC.
Reasonable resources have been made available to
the AC to enable it to discharge its duties. The AC will
meet with the external auditor, and with the internal
auditor, without the presence of management, at least
annually.
The Company’s external auditor carries out, in the course
of its annual statutory audit, a review of the Company’s
internal controls relevant to the Company’s preparation
of the consolidated financial statements, and risk
management to the extent of the scope of audit as
laid out in its audit plan. Material non-compliance and
internal control weaknesses noted during the audit and
the external auditor’s recommendations to address such
non-compliance and weaknesses are reported to the AC.
Management follows up and implements the external
auditor’s recommendations. No material weaknesses were
noted for FY2022.
The Company has in place a whistle-blowing policy
whereby employees and others may, in confidence,
raise concerns about possible impropriety in matters
of financial reporting, fraudulent acts or behaviour that
might constitute a contravention of any rules, regulations
or internal policies. The policy and procedures provide
the Group’s employees with well-defined, accessible and
trusted channels to report to the Company any suspected
fraud, dishonest acts, misconduct, wrongdoing and/or
other improprieties relating to the Group and its officers.
The policy sets out that the identity of the whistle-blower
will be kept confidential and that the Company will not
tolerate victimisation or harassment of whistle-blowers.
The Company will ensure protection of whistle-blowers
against reprisal and detrimental or unfair treatment, even
if the reports prove to be unfounded.

The AC is responsible for oversight and monitoring
of whistle-blowing, and oversees the policy and its
related procedures. All whistle-blowing reports will
be channelled to the AC directly and the Company
has designed an independent function to investigate
whistle-blowing reports made in good faith. The AC
ensures an independent investigation of the reported
concern is conducted, appropriate follow up actions
are taken and issues raised are properly resolved by the
Company. The whistle-blowing policy is made available to
all employees on the Company’s intranet and is regularly
circulated to employees via electronic mails.
The Company’s internal audit function resides in-house.
The AC ensures that the internal audit function has
appropriate standing within the Company and that it
is staffed by persons with appropriate qualifications
and experience. The Company’s internal audit function
is headed by a manager who has more than eight
years of working experience, after graduating with a
Bachelor’s degree in Accounting (Honours) from Nanyang
Technological University, Singapore.
The internal audit manager reports directly to the
chairman of the AC on audit matters. The AC reviews
the internal audit reports and activities as well as the
adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function,
at least annually. The AC also reviews and approves the
annual internal audit plan.
The AC participates in and approves the hiring, removal,
evaluation and compensation of the head of the internal
audit function. The internal audit department has unfettered
access to all company documents, records, properties and
personnel, including access to the AC. The AC is of the view
that the internal audit function is effective, and the internal
audit department is adequately resourced to perform its
functions and has, to the best of its ability, maintained its
independence from the activities that it audits.
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The internal audit department applies the Standards
for Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by the
Institute of Internal Auditors in carrying out its functions.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND
ENGAGEMENT
SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND CONDUCT OF GENERAL
MEETINGS
Principle 11: The Company treats all shareholders
fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise
shareholders’ rights and have the opportunity to
communicate their views on matters affecting the
Company. The Company gives shareholders a balanced
and understandable assessment of its performance,
position and prospects.
ENGAGEMENT WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Principle 12: The Company communicates regularly
with shareholders and facilitates the participation
of shareholders during general meetings and other
dialogues to allow shareholders to communicate their
views on various matters affecting the Company.
The Company’s policy on investor relations is to promote
fair and equitable treatment of all shareholders. The
Company communicates information to shareholders
through announcements that are released to the SGX-ST
via SGXNET. Such announcements include the half-year
and full-year results, material transactions, and other
developments relating to the Group requiring disclosure
under the corporate disclosure policy of the SGX-ST.
Information is provided in an understandable and
balanced manner, and on a timely basis so as to enable
shareholders to make informed decisions in respect of
their investments in the Company.
T h e C o m p a n y a l s o a t t e n d s t o e n q u i r i e s f ro m
shareholders, analysts and the press. Such enquiries
are handled by specifically designated members of
senior management in lieu of a dedicated investor
relations team. The Company also maintains a website
www.thehourglass.com where shareholders and the

public can access information on the Group. Shareholders
and others interested to learn about the Group and
its business are able to submit enquiries online via the
website and receive responses in a timely manner.
The safe management measures introduced by Singapore
authorities to curb the spread of COVID-19 by keeping
physical interactions to a minimum have impacted the
traditional in-person format of the Company’s AGMs. The
Company’s AGM in respect of the financial year ended
31 March 2021 (“AGM 2021”) was convened and held
by way of electronic means on 28 July 2021, pursuant
to the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative
Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable
Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and
Debenture Holders) Order 2020 (“Order”) and the
checklist jointly issued by ACRA, Monetary Authority of
Singapore and SGX which gave guidance to listed and
non-listed entities on the conduct of general meetings
amid the evolving COVID-19 situation (“Checklist”).
The alternative arrangements put in place for the conduct
of AGM 2021 pursuant to the Order and the Checklist
were published by the Company on its corporate
website and announced via SGXNET. The alternative
arrangements included attendance by shareholders
at the AGM 2021 via electronic means (under which
verified shareholders could observe and/or listen to the
AGM 2021 proceedings via live audio-visual webcast
or live audio-only stream), submission of questions by
shareholders to the chairman of the meeting in advance
of the AGM 2021, addressing of substantial and relevant
questions prior to or at the AGM 2021 by the Company,
and exercise of shareholders’ voting rights at the AGM
2021 by appointing the chairman of the meeting as proxy
to vote according to their specified voting instructions.
The directors’ attendance at the AGM 2021 (either
in-person or via electronic means) is set out at the end
of this report.
The upcoming AGM in respect of FY2022 to be held on
29 July 2022 will also be convened and held by way of
electronic means pursuant to the Order and the Checklist.
The Company’s usual practice for the conduct of general
meetings is otherwise set out below.
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T h e C o m p a n y ’s m a i n f o r u m f o r d i a l o g u e w i t h
shareholders takes place at its AGMs, where members
of the Board including the chairmen of the respective
Board committees, senior management and the external
auditor are in attendance. At the AGM, shareholders
are given the opportunity to air their views and ask
questions regarding the Company, its strategies and
performance, and seek clarification on a resolution
before it is put to the vote. Resolutions put to the
general meetings are separate unless they are
interdependent and linked, and the reasons and material
implications are explained.
The Company’s Constitution allows a shareholder
to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote at
general meetings in his/her stead. Shareholders who
are “relevant intermediaries” (such as banks and
capital markets services licence holders which provide
custodial services for securities) are not constrained by
the two proxy limitation and are able to appoint more
than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at general
meetings. Shareholders also have the flexibility to
appoint the chairman of the meeting as their proxy and
specify the manner in which their votes are to be cast.
Provision 11.4 of the Code provides that a company’s
constitution should allow for absentia voting at general
meetings of shareholders (such as via mail, email or fax).
Voting in absentia has not been implemented by the
Company due to authentication of shareholder identity
concerns and other related security issues, and pending
legislative clarity to recognise absentee voting. For
greater transparency in the voting process at its general
meetings, the Company has implemented electronic
poll voting. An independent scrutineer is appointed
by the Company in respect of the general meeting to
ensure satisfactory procedures of the voting process
are in place and to supervise the count of the votes.
Shareholders and proxies in attendance at the meeting
are informed of the house rules and the voting process.
The detailed results (i.e., the number of votes cast for
and against and the percentage) of the vote on every
resolution polled are disclosed at the general meeting
and are announced by the Company after the meeting
in accordance with relevant requirements of the Listing
Manual.

The Company prepares minutes of general meetings,
which include substantial and relevant comments
and queries from shareholders, and makes these
minutes available to shareholders upon their request.
In accordance with the Order and the Checklist, the
Company published the minutes of the AGM 2021 on its
corporate website and via SGXNET as soon as practicable
after such meeting.
The Company does not distribute a fixed amount or
percentage of earnings by way of dividend in any financial
year. Rather, in fixing a dividend for any year, the Board
considers a number of factors, including current and
forecast earnings, capital expenditure requirements,
growth options and the Company’s debt/equity position.
As a matter of policy, the Company aims to pay a
consistent and sustainable base dividend to shareholders
over the long term by balancing growth with prudent
capital management.

MANAGING STAKEHOLDER
RELATIONSHIPS
ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Principle 13: The Board adopts an inclusive approach
by considering and balancing the needs and interests of
material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility
to ensure that the best interests of the Company are
served.
Key stakeholders are identified through Board and
management discussions. The executive directors
and senior management actively engage with key
stakeholders of the Group, and updates on any relevant
feedback received are communicated to the Board.
The Group’s approach is focused on delivering value
for all stakeholders. These stakeholders include
shareholders or investors, employees, clients, suppliers
and government agencies or regulators. The Group is
committed to understanding the key concerns of its
stakeholders, and seeks to address these concerns by
engaging stakeholders on a regular basis. The Group

31

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
engages its stakeholders through a variety of channels
to ensure that the business interests of the Group are
aligned with the needs and interests of the stakeholders.
They include regular and timely communication about the
Group’s activities to all stakeholders, and the provision of
appropriate feedback mechanisms for monitoring and
evaluating purposes.
Further details on the stakeholders engaged by the
Group, key concerns raised, modes of engagement and
frequency of engagement are disclosed in the Group’s
sustainability report for FY2022, which will be published
in the third quarter of 2022.
The Company maintains a corporate website to
communicate and engage with the Group’s key

stakeholders. The online content is closely curated
for the target audience and regularly updated
with a view to optimising user engagement and
experience.

DISCLOSURE OF REMUNERATION
Directors’ fees are paid to non-executive directors on a
current year basis, subject to approval by shareholders
at the AGM. Executive directors do not receive any
directors’ fees.
The fees proposed for payment to non-executive
directors for FY2022 were determined based on the
following formula, which is substantially similar to that
applied in the previous year:
FY2022
FEE QUANTUM
$

BOARD DIRECTORS
Basic fee
Attendance fee for each Board meeting
Attendance fee for each non-scheduled meeting

30,000
2,000
1,000

LEAD INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

20,000

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Chairman
Member

40,000
15,000

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Chairman
Member

30,000
10,000
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SUMMARY REMUNERATION TABLES – FY2022		
(I) DIRECTORS
Name
Position
		

Salary*
%

Bonus#
%

Fees
%

Other benefits
%

Total
%

$5,000,000 to below $5,250,000						
Mr Michael Tay Wee Jin
Group Managing Director
12%
88%
0%
0%

100%

$2,250,000 to below $2,500,000						
Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan
Executive Chairman
15%
80%
0%
5%

100%

$250,000 to below $500,000						
Dr Kenny Chan Swee Kheng
Non-Independent
0%
0%
85%
15%
100%
Non-Executive Director					
Below $250,000						
Mr Lock Wai Han
Independent Director
0%
0%
100%
0%
100%
Mr Kuah Boon Wee
Non-Independent
0%
0%
100%
0%
100%
Mr Liew Choon Wei
Mr Jeffry Lee Yu Chern

Non-Executive Director ^
Independent Director
Independent Director

0%
0%

0%
0%

100%
100%

0%
0%

* Salary includes employer’s CPF contribution.
#

^

Accrued for FY2022.
Re-designated with effect from 1 January 2022 (Independent Director up till 31 December 2021).

(II) KEY MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP (AS AT 31 MARCH 2022)
Name of Company

Name

Position

The Hour Glass Limited

Mr Ho Tun Min Norman

Group General Manager

The Hour Glass Limited

Mr Ho Mang Chan

Chief Financial Officer

The Hour Glass Limited

Mr Ng Siak Yong

Chief Administrative Officer

The Hour Glass (HK) Limited

Mr Chung Wai Yang

Managing Director (Hong Kong)

The Hour Glass Japan Ltd

Mr Atsushi Momoi

Director & General Manager

Glajz-THG Pte Ltd

Mr John Glajz

Managing Director

No. of key executives in remuneration bands		

FY2022

Above $750,000 to below $1,000,000 		

2

$500,000 to below $750,000		

4

100%
100%
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS IN FY2022
Board composition and Committees			

Board

AC

NRC

AGM

No. of meetings held			

3

2

1

1

No. of
meetings
attended

No. of
meetings
attended

No. of
meetings
attended

No. of
meetings
attended

Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan 			

3

NA

NA

1

Mr Michael Tay Wee Jin			

3

NA

1

1

Dr Kenny Chan Swee Kheng			

3

2

NA

1

Mr Lock Wai Han 			

3

2

1

1

Mr Kuah Boon Wee			

3

2

1

1

Mr Liew Choon Wei			

3

2

NA

1

Mr Jeffry Lee Yu Chern			

3

NA

1

1

			
			
			

NA means not applicable.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
ETHICAL STANDARDS AND BUSINESS CONDUCT
The Company has developed a code of ethics and business conduct to be observed by all employees of the Group.
The code of conduct also deals with subjects such as confidential information and conflict of interest. The code,
which is regularly reviewed and updated as necessary to ensure it reflects the highest standards of behaviour and
professionalism, requires that all personnel act with utmost integrity, objectivity and in compliance with both the letter
and spirit of the law as well as with Company policies and procedures.

DEALING IN SECURITIES
The Company has adopted an internal policy with respec t to dealings in securities modelled on the
SGX-ST's best practice recommendations. The following summarises the policies in place during the financial year:
(a) Directors and employees are to refrain from dealing in the securities of the Company during the periods
commencing one month before and up to the date of announcement of the Company's half-year and full-year results.
(b) They are cautioned against dealing while in possession of material price or trade sensitive non-public information.
(c) They are also encouraged not to deal on considerations of a short-term nature.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
Transactions with the Company’s interested persons (as that term is defined in the Listing Manual) are subject to review
and approval by the Board comprising those directors who do not have an interest in the transaction. Where required
by the relevant listing rules of the SGX-ST, the AC reviews the transaction to determine that it is on normal commercial
terms and hence, not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and shareholders, before making its recommendation
to the Board for endorsement. During the financial year, the following transactions were conducted with interested
persons which amounted to $100,000 or more in value. The Company did not have a shareholders’ mandate pursuant
to Rule 920 of the Listing Manual during the financial year.

Name of interested person

Amstay Pte Ltd
Mr Michael Tay Wee Jin

Nature of relationship

Aggregate value of
all interested person
transactions during the
financial year under
review (excluding
transactions less
than $100,000 and
transactions conducted
under shareholders’
mandate pursuant to
Rule 920)

Aggregate value of
all interested person
transactions conducted
under shareholders’
mandate pursuant to
Rule 920 (excluding
transactions less than
$100,000)

Associate of
Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan

*$118,843

−

$763,333

−

Director

^

* This comprises gross rental in respect of a two and a half year lease of additional office premises at 12th floor, Tong Building,
Singapore, commencing 14 June 2021, leased from Amstay Pte Ltd.
^ This comprises purchases of watches from the Company.
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS
No material contracts to which the Company or any related company is a party and which involve a Director’s or
controlling shareholder’s interests subsisted at the end of FY2022, or have been entered into since the end of the
previous financial year.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING
The Group views sustainability reporting as an opportunity to share its current practices as it seeks to embed
sustainability into the Group’s day-to-day operations. The Board strives to align the Group’s strategic policies and
practices with leading standards in the Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) themes. More information on the
material ESG matters is available in the Sustainability Report 2021. The Group will be issuing its Sustainability Report
2022 in the third quarter of 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION
The information pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual in respect of the respective Directors standing for re-election
at the AGM is provided below.
(1)

“Board of Directors” (on pages 4 to 6)
- Date of appointment
- Professional qualifications
- Working experience and occupation(s) during the past 10 years

(2)

“Corporate Governance” (on page 20)
- Age
- Date of last re-appointment/re-election

(3)

Other information as set out in Appendix 7.4.1 of the Listing Manual:

Director

Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan

Dr Kenny Chan Swee Kheng

Mr Liew Choon Wei

Job Title (e.g., Lead ID, AC
Chairman, AC Member etc.)

Refer to “Corporate
Directory” on page 3.

Refer to “Corporate
Directory” on page 3.

Refer to “Corporate
Directory” on page 3.

Country of principal residence

Singapore

Singapore

Singapore

The Board’s comments on the
re-election

Dr Tay’s re-election was
recommended by the
NRC and approved by
the Board. His leadership,
extensive knowledge and
experience are invaluable
to the Board’s oversight
of strategic goals and
the Group’s business
direction, and his deep
knowledge of the
industry and business is
beneficial and contributes
to the quality of Board
deliberations and
diversity of perspectives
on the Board.

Dr Chan’s re-election
was recommended by
the NRC and approved
by the Board. His
insights and extensive
knowledge of the
Group’s operations
contribute positively to,
and complement skillsets
and backgrounds of
Board members which
are relevant to the
Company, and contribute
to the quality of Board
deliberations and
diversity of perspectives
on the Board.

Mr Liew’s re-election
was recommended by
the NRC and approved
by the Board. His audit
background and related
industry experience
contribute positively to,
and augment, the core
competencies of the
Board members, and
contribute to the quality
of Board deliberations
and diversity of
perspectives on the
Board.

Whether appointment is
executive, and if so, the area
of responsibility

Executive: Heads the
senior management team
and provides strategic
direction to management
of the Group.

Non-Executive

Non-Executive

Shareholding interest in
the listed issuer and its
subsidiaries

Refer to “Directors’
Statement” on page 43.

Refer to “Directors’
Statement” on page 43.

Nil

Any relationship (including
immediate family relationships)
with any existing director,
existing executive officer,
the issuer and/or substantial
shareholder of the listed
issuer or of any of its principal
subsidiaries

Dr Tay is a substantial
shareholder of the
Company. His son, Mr
Michael Tay Wee Jin,
is Group Managing
Director of the Company.

Dr Chan is the brother
of Dato’ Dr Jannie Chan
Siew Lee, a deemed
substantial shareholder
of the Company.

Nil

He is also the uncle of
Mr Michael Tay Wee Jin,
Group Managing
Director of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION (cont’d)
(3)

Other information as set out in Appendix 7.4.1 of the Listing Manual (cont’d):

Director

Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan

Dr Kenny Chan Swee Kheng

Mr Liew Choon Wei

Conflict of interest (including
any competing business)

Nil

Nil

Nil

Undertaking (in the format
set out in Appendix 7.7)
under Rule 720(1) has been
submitted to the Company

Yes

Yes

Yes

Nil

Nil

Director, Halcyon Agri
Corporation Limited

Other principal commitments
including directorships
Present

Director, FJ Benjamin
Holdings Ltd
Director, Frasers
Hospitality Asset
Management Pte. Ltd.
Director, Frasers
Hospitality Trust
Management Pte. Ltd.
Retired Fellow Member,
Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, UK
Member, Institute of
Singapore Chartered
Accountants
Past (for the last 5 years)

Founder President,
Hong Kong – Singapore
Business Association

Council Member,
Singapore Retailers
Association

Chairman, Internal
Audit Committee, Kuok
(Singapore) Limited

If the answer to any question in items (a) to (k) below is ‘Yes’, full details must be given.
(a) Whether at any time
during the last 10
years, an application
or a petition under any
bankruptcy law of any
jurisdiction was filed
against him or against a
partnership of which he
was a partner at the time
when he was a partner or
at any time within 2 years
from the date he ceased
to be a partner?

No

No

No
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION (cont’d)
(3)

Other information as set out in Appendix 7.4.1 of the Listing Manual (cont’d):

Director

Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan

Dr Kenny Chan Swee Kheng

Mr Liew Choon Wei

If the answer to any question in items (a) to (k) below is ‘Yes’, full details must be given.
(b) Whether at any time
during the last 10 years,
an application or a
petition under any law of
any jurisdiction was filed
against an entity (not
being a partnership) of
which he was a director or
an equivalent person or a
key executive, at the time
when he was a director
or an equivalent person
or a key executive of that
entity or at any time within
2 years from the date he
ceased to be a director
or an equivalent person
or a key executive of that
entity, for the winding
up or dissolution of that
entity or, where that entity
is the trustee of a business
trust, that business
trust, on the ground of
insolvency?

No

No

No

(c) Whether there is any
unsatisfied judgment
against him?

No

No

No

(d) Whether he has ever
been convicted of any
offence, in Singapore
or elsewhere, involving
fraud or dishonesty
which is punishable with
imprisonment, or has
been the subject of any
criminal proceedings
(including any pending
criminal proceedings of
which he is aware) for such
purpose?

No

No

No
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION (cont’d)
(3)

Other information as set out in Appendix 7.4.1 of the Listing Manual (cont’d):

Director

Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan

Dr Kenny Chan Swee Kheng

Mr Liew Choon Wei

If the answer to any question in items (a) to (k) below is ‘Yes’, full details must be given.
(e) Whether he has ever been
convicted of any offence,
in Singapore or elsewhere,
involving a breach of
any law or regulatory
requirement that relates
to the securities or futures
industry in Singapore or
elsewhere, or has been
the subject of any criminal
proceedings (including
any pending criminal
proceedings of which he
is aware) for such breach?

No

No

No

(f) Whether at any time
during the last 10 years,
judgment has been
entered against him in
any civil proceedings in
Singapore or elsewhere
involving a breach of
any law or regulatory
requirement that relates
to the securities or futures
industry in Singapore or
elsewhere, or a finding of
fraud, misrepresentation
or dishonesty on his part,
or he has been the subject
of any civil proceedings
(including any pending
civil proceedings of which
he is aware) involving
an allegation of fraud,
misrepresentation or
dishonesty on his part?

No

No

No

(g) Whether he has ever been
convicted in Singapore or
elsewhere of any offence
in connection with the
formation or management
of any entity or business
trust?

No

No

No
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION (cont’d)
(3)

Other information as set out in Appendix 7.4.1 of the Listing Manual (cont’d):

Director

Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan

Dr Kenny Chan Swee Kheng

Mr Liew Choon Wei

If the answer to any question in items (a) to (k) below is ‘Yes’, full details must be given.
(h) Whether he has ever
been disqualified from
acting as a director or
an equivalent person
of any entity (including
the trustee of a business
trust), or from taking part
directly or indirectly in the
management of any entity
or business trust?

No

No

No

(i)

Whether he has ever
been the subject of
any order, judgment
or ruling of any court,
tribunal or governmental
body, permanently or
temporarily enjoining him
from engaging in any type
of business practice or
activity?

No

No

No

(j)

Whether he has ever,
to his knowledge,
been concerned with
the management or
conduct, in Singapore or
elsewhere, of the affairs
of:
(i) any corporation which
has been investigated
for a breach of any
law or regulatory
requirement governing
corporations in
Singapore or elsewhere;
or
(ii) any entity (not being a
corporation) which has
been investigated for
a breach of any law or
regulatory requirement
governing such entities
in Singapore or
elsewhere;
or

No

No

No

No

No

No

41

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION (cont’d)
(3)

Other information as set out in Appendix 7.4.1 of the Listing Manual (cont’d):

Director

Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan

Dr Kenny Chan Swee Kheng

Mr Liew Choon Wei

If the answer to any question in items (a) to (k) below is ‘Yes’, full details must be given.
(iii) any business trust which
has been investigated
for a breach of any
law or regulatory
requirement governing
business trusts in
Singapore or elsewhere;
or
(iv) any entity or business
trust which has been
investigated for a
breach of any law or
regulatory requirement
that relates to the
securities or futures
industry in Singapore or
elsewhere,
in connection with any
matter occurring or arising
during that period when
he was so concerned with
the entity or business
trust?
(k) Whether he has been the
subject of any current
or past investigation or
disciplinary proceedings,
or has been reprimanded
or issued any warning, by
the Monetary Authority
of Singapore or any other
regulatory authority,
exchange, professional
body or government
agency, whether in
Singapore or elsewhere?

No

No

No

No

No

No

Yes *

No

No

* The World Health Organization had declared in 1979 that smallpox was eradicated. Prevailing relevant legislation in Singapore had
yet to be updated for the foregoing and still required doctors to certify patients who had received smallpox vaccinations. In 1981,
Dr Tay was practising as a medical doctor with three other partners in a practice and were suspended from medical practice for a
period of three months by the Singapore Medical Council for having certified patients as having been vaccinated for smallpox when
they had not been. Dr Tay was a medical practitioner for nine years before joining The Hour Glass in 1981 and save for the foregoing,
he was not for the duration of his medical practice the subject of any investigation, disciplinary proceeding, reprimand or warning
by the Singapore Medical Council.
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of The Hour Glass Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and
the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended
31 March 2022.
Opinion of the directors
In the opinion of the directors,
(i)

the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of
changes in equity of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2022 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash
flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its
debts as and when they fall due.

Directors
The directors in office at the date of this statement are:
Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan
Mr Michael Tay Wee Jin
Dr Kenny Chan Swee Kheng
Mr Lock Wai Han
Mr Kuah Boon Wee
Mr Liew Choon Wei
Mr Jeffry Lee Yu Chern
Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures
Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose
objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
Directors’ interests in shares and debentures
The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’
shareholdings, required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act 1967, an interest in shares of
the Company and related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) as stated below:
Direct interest

Deemed interest

At beginning of
financial year

At end of
financial year

At beginning of
financial year

At end of
financial year

Henry Tay Yun Chwan

64,883,368

65,003,368

378,172,869

378,172,869

Michael Tay Wee Jin

26,804,098

26,804,098

–

–

2,725,497

2,725,497

448,878

448,878

Name of director
Ordinary shares of the Company

Kenny Chan Swee Kheng

There was no change in any of the above-mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year
and 21 April 2022.
By virtue of Section 4 of the Singapore Securities and Futures Act 2001, Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan is deemed to have
interests in the shares of the subsidiaries held by the Company.
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Directors’ interests in shares and debentures (cont’d)
Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in
shares, or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year, at the
date of appointment if later, or at the end of the financial year.
Share options
(i)

No options to take up unissued shares in the Company or its subsidiaries have been granted during the
financial year.

(ii)

No shares have been issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued
shares of the Company or its subsidiaries.

(iii)

As at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under
option.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive directors and two non-independent non-executive
directors. The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this statement are:
Mr Liew Choon Wei
Mr Kuah Boon Wee
Dr Kenny Chan Swee Kheng
Mr Lock Wai Han

(Chairman)

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the financial year. The Audit Committee has full access to and
co-operation from management. The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act
1967, and reviewed the following, where relevant, with the executive directors and the internal and external auditors:
(a)

the evaluation of the Group’s system of internal accounting controls;

(b)

the Group’s financial and operating results;

(c)

the financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group before their
submission to the Board of Directors;

(d)

the audit plan of the external auditor, including the nature and scope of the audit before the audit commenced;

(e)

the audit report submitted by the external auditor;

(f)

the scope and results of internal audit procedures;

(g)

the co-operation given by management to the external and internal auditors;

(h)

the independence and objectivity of the external auditor; and

(i)

the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditor.

The Audit Committee, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditor to the Group, is
satisfied that the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditor. The
Audit Committee has also conducted a review of interested person transactions.
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors the reappointment of Ernst & Young LLP,
Chartered Accountants, as the external auditor of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
Further details regarding the Audit Committee are disclosed in the report on Corporate Governance.
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Auditor
Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditor.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

Henry Tay Yun Chwan
Executive Chairman

Michael Tay Wee Jin
Group Managing Director

Singapore
31 May 2022

46 THE HOUR GLASS LIMITED annual report 2022

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE HOUR GLASS LIMITED
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of The Hour Glass Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at
31 March 2022, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company and the consolidated income
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group, the statement of financial position
and the statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 1967 (the Act) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (SFRS(I)) so as to give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at
31 March 2022 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash
flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority
(ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE HOUR GLASS LIMITED
Key Audit Matters (cont’d)
Areas of focus

How our audit addressed the risk factors

Allowance for inventories
The Group’s inventories amounted to $254,126,000 as
at 31 March 2022. The Group carries a range of luxury
timepieces, jewellery and other luxury products as
merchandise for resale.
The Group records its inventories at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The determination of net
realisable value is subject to significant estimation
uncertainty, in particular because the saleability and
margins of luxury timepieces and jewellery are affected
by factors such as changing consumer demand,
fashion trends, supply-related scarcity, and economic
uncertainties. There is significant management
judgement involved in setting expectations about
future sales of slow-moving inventory items.
Accordingly, we have identified this to be a key audit
matter.



We involved the component auditors in our audit of
the Group’s inventories.



We reviewed management’s basis for determining
inventory allowances and consistency with Group
policy.



We assessed the reasonableness of inventory
allowances by reviewing on a sample basis that
inventory items are categorised appropriately in
the relevant ageing bracket and assessing the
reasonableness of allowance percentages applied
by reference to utilisation based on actual sale
experience. We also reviewed the basis used to set
aside specific allowances for certain slow-moving
inventories.



We considered the appropriateness of
management’s expectations about future sales
by reviewing gross margins, historical markdowns
of inventory values, historical sales pattern, and
future sales expectations. We also considered
management’s expectations about future supply and
actual selling prices observed subsequent to the
reporting date.



We assessed the state and condition of selected
inventory items when we observed management’s
year-end inventory counts at selected retail outlets.



We obtained and evaluated the independent
appraisal reports of selected jewellery and precious
stone items performed by qualified gemologists.

Refer to Note 2.15 (accounting policy), Note 3.2
(key sources of estimation uncertainty) and Note 20
(inventories).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE HOUR GLASS LIMITED
Key Audit Matters (cont’d)
Areas of focus

How our audit addressed the risk factors

Valuation of investment properties
The Group’s investment properties amounted to
$178,913,000 as at 31 March 2022.



We involved the component auditors in our audit of
the Group’s investment properties.

The Group measures its investment properties at fair
value through profit or loss where significant judgement
and estimation is required to determine the appropriate
valuation method as well as the underlying valuation
assumptions.



We assessed management’s process for reviewing
and assessing the work of the external valuers.



We involved our internal valuation specialists where
necessary to assist us in the below-mentioned
procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of the
valuation of the Group’s investment properties.



We considered the objectivity, independence and
competency of the external valuers.



We read the external valuation reports and inquired
with the external valuers and obtained explanations
to support the selection of valuation method as
well as the key assumptions used to establish the
valuations.



We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methods used and the reasonableness of the
underlying valuation assumptions by making
comparison with available external market data.



We evaluated the reasonableness of assumptions
and tested material property valuations through
benchmarking of yields, understanding the valuation
methodology and testing the integrity of a sample
of the information provided to the external valuer
by agreeing the information to underlying lease
agreements.



We responded to the increased estimation
uncertainty over the valuations of the Group’s
investment properties by evaluating the
appropriateness of any consequential valuation
adjustments and performed sensitivity analyses
where applicable.



We reviewed the adequacy of financial statement
disclosures.

The Group uses independent and professionally
qualified external valuers to determine the fair value of
investment properties using a combination of valuation
techniques, which include the income capitalisation,
discounted cash flow and direct comparison methods.
These methods require the use of estimates such as
capitalisation rates, discount rates, terminal yields and
rental income.
These valuation results are based on the relevant
market conditions prevailing at the reporting date,
which are subject to change after the reporting period.
Given the increased economic uncertainties brought on
by the COVID-19 pandemic, there may be significant
changes to fair values of the Group’s investment
properties in subsequent periods. Accordingly, some
of the external valuers have included cautionary
statements about the heightened uncertainty over
valuations in their valuation reports. Accordingly, we
have identified this to be a key audit matter.
Refer to Note 2.8 (accounting policy), Note 3.2
(key sources of estimation uncertainty) and Note 14
(investment properties).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE HOUR GLASS LIMITED
Key Audit Matters (cont’d)
Areas of focus

How our audit addressed the risk factors

Goodwill impairment testing
As of 31 March 2022, the Group’s intangible assets
included goodwill of $6,182,000 arising from the
acquisition of Mansors Jewellers Limited’s retail
business in New Zealand in January 2020. An
impairment loss of $4,161,000 was recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended
31 March 2022.
The Group performs an annual impairment test on
goodwill in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of
Assets. Goodwill is allocated to the watch and jewellery
retailing business of The Hour Glass (NZ) Limited which
is regarded as the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) for
impairment testing purposes.
Significant judgement and estimation is involved
in determining the recoverable amount based on
value-in-use. Accordingly, we consider this to be a key
audit matter.
Refer to Note 2.5(b) (accounting policy), Note 3.2
(key sources of estimation uncertainty) and Note 15
(intangible assets).



We involved the component auditors in our audit of
the Group’s goodwill included in intangible assets.



We assessed management’s bases for the
identification of CGU and the quantification of its
carrying amount.



We assessed the appropriateness of the method
used by management to estimate the recoverable
value and evaluated the key assumptions used in
the impairment test, in particular, the forecasted
revenue growth rate, terminal growth rates and
discount rates.



We considered the robustness of management’s
budgeting process by comparing previous forecasts
to actual results.



We assessed the assumptions used by comparing
them to historical data as well as market outlets,
taking into consideration current market conditions.



We involved our internal valuation specialists where
necessary to assist us in reviewing the discount rates
and long term growth rate used in the value-in-use
calculation. In particular, we compared the discount
rate to those of comparable companies in the same
industry and long term growth rate to external
market data such as economic growth and inflation
rates.



We performed sensitivity analysis of certain key
assumptions to assess whether a reasonable change
in these assumptions would have a material impact
of the value-in-use calculation.



We reviewed the adequacy of financial statement
disclosures.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE HOUR GLASS LIMITED
Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the information included in the
Annual Report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I), and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting
controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised
use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the
preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

51

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE HOUR GLASS LIMITED
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)


Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.



Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those
subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in
accordance with the provisions of the Act.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Terry Wee Hiang Bing.
Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore
31 May 2022
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
Note

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Revenue

4

1,033,404

742,931

Other income

5

10,522

8,858

1,043,926

751,789

695,606

525,639

64,660

47,016

Revenue and other income
Cost of goods sold
Salaries and employee benefits
Selling and promotion expenses

23,328

15,300

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

12

10,361

7,782

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

13

28,097

26,993

6,014

1,509

6

3,707

3,405

30

211

15,227

13,434

(847,030)

(641,289)

Rental expenses
Finance costs
Foreign exchange loss
Other expenses

7

Costs and expenses
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment

12

(2,483)

–

Impairment loss on goodwill

15

(4,161)

–

Fair value loss on investment properties

(1,394)

(9,997)

Share of results of associates

15,655

9,388

Profit before taxation

8

204,513

109,891

Taxation

9

(47,501)

(25,353)

157,012

84,538

154,696

82,470

Profit for the year
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

2,316

2,068

157,012

84,538

22.34

11.71

Earnings per share (cents)
Basic and diluted

11

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2022
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

157,012

84,538

Foreign currency translation

(7,337)

16,866

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax

(7,337)

16,866

149,675

101,404

Owners of the Company

147,279

100,358

Non-controlling interests

2,396

1,046

149,675

101,404

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2022
Group
Note

Company
2022
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19

143,818
99,112
178,913
10,673
–
54,575
7,233
962
495,286

145,509
86,834
143,739
15,439
–
46,407
7,620
1,686
447,234

10,330
59,529
11,272
372
118,396
–
4,444
587
204,930

10,055
51,341
11,272
410
118,371
–
4,308
579
196,336

20
18

254,126
19,574
810
85
–
323,360
597,955
1,093,241

259,096
15,625
989
109
–
247,872
523,691
970,925

164,480
8,441
443
–
4,975
162,835
341,174
546,104

159,741
5,010
455
37
6,088
140,675
312,006
508,342

24
25
21
22
26

111,037
74,446
–
–
28,823
27,831
242,137
355,818

105,121
60,359
170
–
22,769
16,144
204,563
319,128

–
33,755
–
9,534
18,326
14,176
75,791
265,383

–
29,515
170
8,377
14,870
7,891
60,823
251,183

26
19

Total liabilities

76,498
6,641
425
83,564
325,701

69,622
1,005
411
71,038
275,601

45,035
–
–
45,035
120,826

40,308
–
–
40,308
101,131

Net assets

767,540

695,324

425,278

407,211

67,638
(34,677)
718,638
751,599
15,941
767,540

67,638
(590)
612,903
679,951
15,373
695,324

67,638
(34,677)
392,317
425,278
–
425,278

67,638
(590)
340,163
407,211
–
407,211

1,093,241

970,925

546,104

508,342

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in associates
Other receivables
Deferred tax assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Prepaid operating expenses
Amounts due from associates
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Cash and bank balances

21
22
23

Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to associates
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Lease liabilities
Income tax payable
Net current assets
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company
Share capital
Treasury shares
Reserves
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total equity and liabilities

27(a)
27(b)
28

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
Attributable to owners of the Company

Share
capital
$’000

Foreign
currency
Treasury translation
shares
reserve
$’000
$’000

Asset
Capital revaluation
reserve
reserve
$’000
$’000

Total
attributable
to owners
NonRevenue
of the controlling
reserve Company interests
$’000
$’000
$’000

Total
equity
$’000

Group
Balance at 1 April 2020

67,638

(590)

(17,084)

(142)

3,372

554,558

607,752

15,031

622,783

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

–

82,470

82,470

2,068

84,538

Other comprehensive income/
(loss)

–

–

17,888

–

–

–

17,888

(1,022)

16,866

Total comprehensive income
for the year

–

–

17,888

–

–

82,470

100,358

1,046

101,404

Dividends on ordinary shares
(Note 10)

–

–

–

–

–

(28,159)

(28,159)

–

(28,159)

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(704)

(704)

Total transactions with owners
in their capacity as owners

–

–

–

–

–

(28,159)

(28,159)

(704)

(28,863)

Transfers

–

–

13

–

(69)

56

–

–

–

67,638

(590)

817

(142)

3,303

608,925

679,951

15,373

695,324

Profit for the year

–

–

–

–

–

154,696

154,696

2,316

157,012

Other comprehensive (loss)/
income

–

–

(7,417)

–

–

–

(7,417)

80

(7,337)

Total comprehensive (loss)/
income for the year

–

–

(7,417)

–

–

154,696

147,279

2,396

149,675

Purchase of treasury shares
(Note 27(b))

–

(34,087)

–

–

–

–

(34,087)

–

(34,087)

Dividends on ordinary shares
(Note 10)

–

–

–

–

–

(41,544)

(41,544)

–

(41,544)

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(1,828)

(1,828)

Total transactions with owners
in their capacity as owners

–

(34,087)

–

–

–

(41,544)

(75,631)

(1,828)

(77,459)

67,638

(34,677)

(6,600)

(142)

3,303

722,077

751,599

15,941

767,540

Contributions by and
distributions to owners

Balance at 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021

Contributions by and
distributions to owners

Balance at 31 March 2022

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
Share
capital

Treasury
shares

Revenue
reserve

Total
equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

67,638

(590)

300,171

367,219

–

–

68,151

68,151

Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 10)

–

–

(28,159)

(28,159)

Total transactions with owners

–

–

(28,159)

(28,159)

67,638

(590)

340,163

407,211

–

–

93,698

93,698

Purchase of treasury shares (Note 27(b))

–

(34,087)

–

(34,087)

Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 10)

–

–

(41,544)

(41,544)

Total transactions with owners

–

(34,087)

(41,544)

(75,631)

67,638

(34,677)

392,317

425,278

Company
Balance at 1 April 2020
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive
income for the year
Contributions by and distributions to owners

Balance at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive
income for the year
Contributions by and distributions to owners

Balance at 31 March 2022

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
Note

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of deferred income
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
Impairment loss on goodwill
Fair value loss on investment properties
Share of results of associates
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital
Decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Decrease in prepaid operating expenses
Decrease in amounts due from associates
Increase in trade and other payables
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to associates
Cash flows from operations
Income taxes paid
Interest paid
Interest received
Net cash flows from operating activities

204,513

109,891

3,707
(451)
10,361
28,097
802
(97)
(334)
(34)
2,483
4,161
1,394
(15,655)
238,947
4,715
(3,508)
169
19
14,358
(170)
254,530
(29,804)
(3,707)
451
221,470

3,405
(617)
7,782
26,993
1,168
–
(191)
378
–
–
9,997
(9,388)
149,418
28,307
4,604
308
2,803
11,218
170
196,828
(19,643)
(3,405)
617
174,397

Investing activities
Additions to intangible assets
Dividend received from an associate
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of investment property
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net cash flows used in investing activities

(286)
4,161
472
(36,516)
(12,804)
(44,973)

(156)
2,268
64
(72,753)
(12,505)
(83,082)

Financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowings
Repayment of loans and borrowings
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
Dividends paid on ordinary shares
Purchase of treasury shares
Net cash flows used in from financing activities

19,776
(13,081)
(27,348)
(1,828)
(41,544)
(34,087)
(98,112)

40,406
(10,288)
(25,471)
(704)
(28,159)
–
(24,216)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

78,385
(2,897)
247,872
323,360

67,099
(2,358)
183,131
247,872

23

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
1.

Corporate information
The Hour Glass Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore
and is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).
The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 302 Orchard Road, #11-01
Tong Building, Singapore 238862.
The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are those of retailing and
distribution of watches, jewellery and other luxury products, investment in properties and investment holding.
With effect from 22 April 2022, the Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is TYC Investment Pte
Ltd, a company incorporated in Singapore.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of
changes in equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”).
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting
policies below.
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (“SGD” or “$”) and all values in the tables are
rounded to the nearest thousand ($’000), except when otherwise indicated.

2.2

Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the current
financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards which are effective for annual financial
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. The adoption of these standards did not have any material effect on
the financial performance or position of the Group and the Company.

2.3

Standards issued but not yet effective
The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet
effective:

Description
Amendments to SFRS(I) 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Effective for annual
periods beginning on
or after
1 January 2022

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-16: Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before
Intended Use

1 January 2022

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-37: Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

1 January 2022

Annual Improvements to SFRS(I)s 2018-2022

1 January 2022

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

1 January 2023

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1: Presentation of Financial Statements and SFRS(I) Practice
Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

1 January 2023

Amendments to SFRS(I) 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors – Definition of Accounting Estimates

1 January 2023
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3

Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

Description

Effective for annual
periods beginning on
or after

Amendments to SFRS(I) 12: Income Taxes – Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

1 January 2023

SFRS(I) 17: Insurance Contracts

1 January 2023

Amendments to SFRS(I) 17

1 January 2023

Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 and SFRS(I) 1-28: Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

Date to be determined

The directors expect that the adoption of the standards above will have no material impact on the financial
statements in the year of initial application.
2.4

Foreign currency
The financial statements are presented in SGD, which is also the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in
the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency.
(a)

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company
and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates
approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the
end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.

(b)

Consolidated financial statements
For consolidation purpose, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into SGD at the
rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period and their profit and loss are translated at
the average rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on the
translation are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
profit or loss.

2.5

Basis of consolidation and business combinations
(a)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date
as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar
circumstances.
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.5

Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont’d)
(a)

Basis of consolidation (cont’d)
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit
balance.

(b)

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs
are incurred and the services are received.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is an asset
or liability are recognised in profit or loss.
Non-controlling interest in the acquiree, that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the acquiree are recognised on the acquisition date at either fair
value, or the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition-date fair values, unless another
measurement basis is required by SFRS(I)s.
Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the
amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is
recognised as gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition date.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.
The cash-generating units to which goodwill have been allocated is tested for impairment annually and
whenever there is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. Impairment is determined
for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cashgenerating units) to which the goodwill relates.

2.6

Transactions with non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of
the Company.
Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and noncontrolling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.7

Property, plant and equipment
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, property,
plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses.
Premises held on 999-year lease are regarded as equivalent to freehold and are included within freehold
premises under property, plant and equipment.
Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated.
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Freehold and leasehold premises
Furniture, fittings and equipment
Motor vehicles

–
–
–

50 years
2 to 10 years
5 years

Assets under construction included in property, plant and equipment are not depreciated as these assets are
not yet available for use.
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted
prospectively, if appropriate.
An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on de-recognition of the asset is included in profit or
loss in the year the asset is de-recognised.
2.8

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties that are either owned by the Group that are held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation, or both, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes, or in the ordinary course of business.
Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.
Investment properties are de-recognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any
gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the year
of retirement or disposal.
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value
at the date of change in use. For a transfer from owner-occupied property to investment property that will
be carried at fair value, the entity shall treat any difference at that date between the carrying amount of the
property in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-16 and its fair value in the same way as a revaluation in accordance with
SFRS(I) 1-16.

2.9

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee.
In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment losses.
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2.10 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible
assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful lives and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful
life of the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted
for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting
estimates.
Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is de-recognised.
Included in intangible assets of the Group are:
(a)

Brands
The brands were acquired in business combinations. Brand with finite life has an estimated useful life of
50 years and is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Brand
with indefinite useful life is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The useful life of the brand
is estimated to be indefinite because based on the current market share of the brand, the Group believes
there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the brand is expected to generate net cash inflows
for the Group.

(b)

Software
Software comprises computer software purchased from third parties and related development
expenditure with future economic benefits. Software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. These costs are amortised to the income statement using the straightline method over their estimated useful lives of 3 years. Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible
assets is added to the carrying value only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in
the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in the income statement as
incurred.
Software integral to a related item of equipment is accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

(c)

Customer relationships
Customer relationships acquired in a business combination represents future economic benefits in the
form of future business with customers beyond the amount secured by any current orders or contracts.
They are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 2 years.

2.11 Associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but does not have control or joint control of those policies. The Group accounts for its
investment in associates using the equity method from the date on which it becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities represents goodwill and is included in the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is included as income in the determination of the entity’s
share of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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2.11 Associates (cont’d)
Under the equity method, the investment in associates are carried in the statement of financial position at cost
plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates. The profit or loss reflects the
share of results of the operations of the associates. Distributions received from associates reduce the carrying
amount of the investment. Where there has been a change recognised in other comprehensive income by the
associates, the Group recognises its share of such changes in other comprehensive income. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associates are eliminated to the extent of the
interest in the associates.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in associate. The Group determines at the end of each reporting
period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the
case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the
associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in profit or loss.
The financial statements of the associates are prepared as the same reporting date as the Company. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value. Any
difference between the fair value of the aggregate of the retained interest and proceeds from disposal and the
carrying amount of the investment at the date the equity method was discontinued is recognised in profit or
loss.
2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of
the asset’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs of
disposal and its value-in-use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount
of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is
written down to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that are previously revalued where the
revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other
comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.
A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised
previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in
which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be
reversed in future periods.
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2.13 Financial instruments
(a)

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in profit or loss.
Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts
collected on behalf of third party, if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing
component at initial recognition.
Subsequent measurement
Investments in debt instruments
Debt instruments comprise of cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables and amounts due
from subsidiaries and associates.
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. The three measurement categories for
classification of debt instruments are:
(i)

Amortised cost
Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are de-recognised or impaired, and through
amortisation process.

(ii)

Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)
Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Financial assets measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair
value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in
other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses
and interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is de-recognised.

(iii)

Fair value through profit or loss
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.

De-recognition
A financial asset is de-recognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has
expired. On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income for debt instruments is recognised in profit or loss.

65

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.13 Financial instruments (cont’d)
(b)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at
initial recognition.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are de-recognised, and through the amortisation process.
De-recognition
A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expired. On de-recognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit and loss.

2.14 Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss and financial guarantee contracts. ECLs are based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (“12-month ECLs”). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default (“lifetime ECLs”).
For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 180 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
2.15 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (specific identification method) and net realisable value. Costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition are accounted for as purchase costs.
Where necessary, allowance is provided for obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying value of
inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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2.16 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, and fixed deposits that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These also include
bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
2.17 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the
activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing
costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended
use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds.
2.18 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the
provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a
current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used,
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
2.19 Employee benefits
(a)

Defined contribution plans
The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which
it has operations. In particular, the Singapore companies in the Group make contributions to the Central
Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to national
pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.

(b)

Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to the employees.
The estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to end of the
reporting period.

(c)

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured as the present value of expected future
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using
the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted
using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and
currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflow.

2.20 Leases
As lessee
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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2.20 Leases (cont’d)
As lessee (cont’d)
(a)

Right-of-use assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-ofuse assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease terms ranging from 1 to 10 years.
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. The accounting policy impairment of non-financial
assets is set out in Note 2.12.

(b)

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g.,
changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease
payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

(c)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less from commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be
low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

As lessor
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income.
The accounting policy for rental income is set out in Note 2.22(b). Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

68 THE HOUR GLASS LIMITED annual report 2022

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.21 Government grants
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. Government grants related to income are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for
which the grants are intended to compensate.
2.22 Revenue
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good
or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance
obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount
allocated to the satisfied performance obligation.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually
defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements to
determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The following describes the performance obligations in contracts
with customers:
(a)

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at a point in time when control of the goods is transferred
to the customer, which generally coincides with the delivery and acceptance of goods sold.

(b)

Rental income
Rental income arising from operating leases on properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms. The aggregate costs of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of
rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(c)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

(d)

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised at a point in time when the Group’s right to receive payment is
established.

(e)

Management fee income
Management fee income is recognised over time when the services are rendered.

2.23 Taxes
(a)

Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.
Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that tax relates to items
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.
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2.23 Taxes (cont’d)
(b)

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:


Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and



In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised except:


Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and



In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is
adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
(c)

Sales tax
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:


Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable; and



Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the statements of financial position.
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2.24 Share capital and share issuance expenses
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.
2.25 Treasury shares
The Group’s own equity instruments, which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and
deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation
of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount of treasury shares and the
consideration received, if reissued, is recognised directly in equity. Voting rights related to treasury shares are
nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them respectively.
2.26 Contingencies
A contingent liability is:
(a)

a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Group; or

(b)

a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:
(i)

It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation; or

(ii)

The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised on the statement of financial position of the Group.
3.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset
or liability affected in the future periods.

3.1

Judgements made in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
(a)

Income taxes
The Group has exposure to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in
determining the Group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax assets and liabilities in the period in which
such determination is made.
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3.1

Judgements made in applying accounting policies (cont’d)
(a)

Income taxes (cont’d)
The Group’s and the Company’s income tax payable, deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
Group
2021
$’000

Deferred tax assets

962

1,686

587

579

Income tax payable

27,831

16,144

14,176

7,891

6,641

1,005

–

–

Deferred tax liabilities
(b)

Company
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

2022
$’000

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options – Group as lessee
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods
covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.
The Group has several lease contracts that include extension options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate
the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise
either the renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term
if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to
exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g. construction of significant leasehold
improvements or significant customisation to the leased asset).
The Group included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of leased properties with
shorter non-cancellable period (i.e. one to five years). The Group typically exercises its option to renew
these leases because there will be a significant negative effect on its operations if a replacement asset is
not readily available.
As at 31 March 2022, potential future (undiscounted) cash outflows of approximately $6,494,000
(2021: $6,330,000) have not been included in lease liabilities because it is not reasonably certain that the
leases will be extended.

3.2

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period are discussed below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the
Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
(a)

Allowance for inventories
Management reviews the inventory ageing listing on a periodic basis. This review involves comparison
of the carrying values of the aged inventory items with the respective net realisable values. There
is estimation uncertainty involved in the determination of the net realisable value as the saleability is
affected by factors such as the ageing of the inventory, changing consumer demand, fashion trends,
supply-related scarcity, and economic uncertainties. The purpose of the review is to ascertain whether any
allowance is required to be made in the financial statements for slow-moving items. The carrying amount
of the Group’s inventories at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in Note 20 to the financial
statements.
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3.2

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)
(b)

Valuation of investment properties
The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair values being recognised
in profit or loss. The Group engaged independent valuation specialists to determine fair value of its
investment properties as at the end of the reporting period. The fair values of investment properties
are determined by independent real estate valuation experts using recognised valuation techniques.
These techniques comprise the capitalisation, discounted cash flow and direct comparison methods.
The determination of the fair value of the investment properties require the use of estimates such as
future cash flows from assets (such as letting, tenants’ profiles, future revenue streams, capital values of
fixtures and fittings, plant and machinery, any environmental matters and the overall repair and condition
of the property) and discount rates applicable to those assets. These estimates are based on local market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting date. The key assumptions used to determine the fair
value of the investment properties are further explained in Note 14.

(c)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to be within
2 to 10 years, except for freehold and leasehold premises which are depreciated over 50 years. The
carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment at 31 March 2022 was $143,818,000
(2021: $145,509,000). Changes in the expected level of usage could impact the economic useful lives
and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

(d)

Leases – estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its
incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR
therefore reﬂects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into ﬁnancing transactions) or when they
need to be adjusted to reﬂect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates.

(e)

Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value-in-use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the
value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of the Group’s goodwill as at 31 March 2022 was $6,182,000
(2021: $10,430,000). The key assumptions used to determine the value-in-use are further explained in
Note 15.
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4.

Revenue
Revenue represents sale of goods after deducting allowances for goods returned and trade discounts.
(a)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
The Group derives revenue from contracts with customers through the transfer of goods at a point in
time.
The Group has determined that disaggregation of revenue using existing segments and geographical
markets meet the disclosure objective in SFRS(I) 15.114. Information regarding operating segments is
disclosed in Note 32.

(b)

Contract liabilities
Information about contract liabilities from contracts with customers is disclosed as below:
Group
31 March
2022
2021
$’000
$’000
Deposits from customers (Note 25)

17,774

1 April
2020
$’000

19,829

19,644

Contract liabilities relate to the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to customers for which
the Group has received deposits from customers for the sale of watches, jewellery and other luxury
products.
Significant changes in contract liabilities are highlighted as follows:
Group

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at
the beginning of the year
5.

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

15,424

15,937

Other income
Group
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

7,743

5,207

451

617

1,712

1,255

Government grants

23

1,425

Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

34

–

559

354

10,522

8,858

Rental income
Interest income from cash and bank balances
Management fee income from associates

Others
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6.

Finance costs
Group

Interest on loans and borrowings
Interest on lease liabilities

7.

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

1,477

1,128

2,230

2,277

3,707

3,405

Other expenses
Group
2022
$’000
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

–

378

Facility costs

6,726

6,249

Professional fees

3,062

2,553

General and administrative expenses

8.

2021
$’000

5,439

4,254

15,227

13,434

Profit before taxation
The following items have been included in arriving at profit before taxation:
Group
Note

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

60,002

42,821

4,658

4,195

430

417

Salaries and employee benefits (including executive directors):
- salaries, bonuses and other costs
- defined contribution plans
Directors’ fees
Audit fees:
- auditor of the Company

269

238

- other auditors

325

294

Non-audit fees:
- auditor of the Company

100

83

- other auditors

121

116

–

(17)

27

144

97

63

Write back of allowance for expected credit losses (trade)

18

Allowance for expected credit losses (non-trade)

18

Bad debts written off (non-trade)
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9.

Taxation
Major components of income tax expense
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 are:
Group
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

- Current income taxation

43,021

24,660

- Over provision in respect of previous years

(1,726)

(18)

41,295

24,642

- Origination and reversal of temporary differences

1,276

161

- Under provision in respect of previous years

4,930

550

6,206

711

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss

47,501

25,353

Consolidated income statement:
Current income tax

Deferred income tax

Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit
The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable
corporate tax rate for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follow:
Group
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Profit before taxation

204,513

109,891

Less: share of results of associates

(15,655)

(9,388)

188,858

100,503

32,106

17,086

2,831

4,090

(139)

(570)

Tax calculated using Singapore corporate tax rate of 17% (2021: 17%)
Adjustments:
Non-deductible expenses
Non-taxable income
Effect of different tax rates in other countries

9,584

4,202

Effect of partial tax exemption and tax relief

(114)

(98)

Under provision in respect of previous years

3,204

532

Others
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss

29

111

47,501

25,353
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10.

Dividends
Group and Company
2022
2021
$’000
$’000
Declared and paid during the financial year
Dividends on ordinary shares:
-

Final exempt (one-tier) dividend in respect of the year ended
31 March 2021: 4.00 cents (2020: 2.00 cents)

27,798

14,080

Interim exempt (one-tier) dividend in respect of the year ended
31 March 2022: 2.00 cents (2021: 2.00 cents)

13,746

14,079

41,544

28,159

On 26 May 2022, the Board of Directors has recommended a final dividend of 6.00 cents per ordinary
share for the full year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: 4.00 cents), amounting to approximately $40,766,000
(2021: $27,798,000). This is subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the Annual General
Meeting to be held on 29 July 2022.
11.

Earnings per share
The following table reflects the profit for the year and share data used in the computation of earnings per share
for the years ended 31 March:
Group

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for calculation of basic and
diluted earnings per share

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

154,696

82,470

‘000

‘000

692,388

703,982
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12.

Property, plant and equipment
Freehold
land and
premises
$’000

Leasehold
premises
$’000

Furniture,
fittings and
equipment
$’000

Motor
vehicles
$’000

Total
$’000

73,500

7,373

59,181

1,899

141,953

6,779

–

5,726

–

12,505

29,561

–

–

–

29,561

(241)

–

(3,251)

–

(3,492)

12,894

(412)

3,878

(23)

16,337

122,493

6,961

65,534

1,876

196,864

2,900

–

9,378

526

12,804

–

–

(1,396)

(1,142)

(2,538)

(878)

18

(484)

2

(1,342)

124,515

6,979

73,032

1,262

205,788

At 1 April 2020

6,577

1,241

36,438

983

45,239

Depreciation charge for the
year

Group
Cost:
At 1 April 2020
Additions
Transferred from investment
properties (Note 14)
Disposals/write-offs
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
At 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021
Additions
Disposals/write-offs
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
At 31 March 2022
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment loss:

1,049

166

6,257

310

7,782

Disposals/write-offs

(26)

–

(3,028)

–

(3,054)

Foreign currency translation
adjustment

476

(61)

982

(9)

1,388

At 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021

8,076

1,346

40,649

1,284

51,355

Depreciation charge for the
year

1,607

163

8,365

226

10,361

–

–

(1,128)

(972)

(2,100)

2,483

–

–

–

2,483

Disposals/write-offs
Impairment loss
Foreign currency translation
adjustment

40

4

(175)

2

(129)

12,206

1,513

47,711

540

61,970

At 31 March 2022

112,309

5,466

25,321

722

143,818

At 31 March 2021

114,417

5,615

24,885

592

145,509

At 31 March 2022
Net carrying value:
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12.

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
(a)

Freehold land and premises (at cost)
Group
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

7,664

7,664

10,168

10,181

3,080

3,109

1,345 square metres shop and office unit at 252 Collins Street, Melbourne

27,269

27,530

1,027 square metres shop and office unit at 192 Pitt Street, Sydney

44,535

44,952

28,161

28,224

Singapore
638 square metres office unit at 302 Orchard Road, Tong Building
Australia
439 square metres shop unit at 70 Castlereagh Street, Sydney
389 square metres office unit at 70 Castlereagh Street, Sydney *

New Zealand
911 square metres shop and office unit at 90-92 Queen Street, Auckland *
Malaysia
1,086 (2021: 281) square metres office units at Wisma UOA II, 21 Jalan
Pinang, Kuala Lumpur

3,638

833

124,515

122,493

* During the last financial year, the Group reclassified a portion of the office unit at 70 Castlereagh
Street and the entire shop and office unit at 90-92 Queen Street from investment properties due to
the change of intended use of the premises (Note 14).
Certain subsidiaries’ freehold land and premises with net carrying value of $78,971,000
(2021: $83,144,000) are charged to secure the bank borrowings of those subsidiaries (Note 24).
The Group recognised an impairment loss of $2,483,000 (2021: $Nil) in respect of a property in New
Zealand as the net carrying value of the property exceeded its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount was determined based on the valuation performed by an independent valuer using a
combination of the income capitalisation and discounted cash flow methods.
(b)

Leasehold premises (at cost)
Group
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

1,677

1,677

Singapore
564 square metres warehouse unit at Eunos Warehouse Complex at Kaki
Bukit Road 2
Hong Kong
202 square metres office unit at Starhouse, No. 3 Salisbury Road, Kowloon

5,302

5,284

6,979

6,961
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12.

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
(c)

Assets under construction (at cost)
The Group’s property, plant and equipment included the following amounts which relate to expenditure
for certain premises (for office and retail use) in the course of construction.
Group

Freehold land and premises
Furniture, fittings and equipment

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

–

28,224

2,253

–

2,253

28,224

Freehold
land and
premises
$’000

Leasehold
premises
$’000

Furniture,
fittings and
equipment
$’000

Motor
vehicles
$’000

Total
$’000

7,664

1,677

26,021

1,534

36,896

Additions

–

–

1,299

–

1,299

Disposals/write-offs

–

–

(1,024)

–

(1,024)

Company
Cost:
At 1 April 2020

At 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021

7,664

1,677

26,296

1,534

37,171

Additions

–

–

2,576

526

3,102

Disposals/write-offs

–

–

(28)

(1,142)

(1,170)

7,664

1,677

28,844

918

39,103

4,085

435

19,723

851

25,094

153

58

2,496

241

2,948

–

–

(926)

–

(926)

4,238

493

21,293

1,092

27,116

154

58

2,288

157

2,657

At 31 March 2022
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 April 2020
Depreciation charge for the
year
Disposals/write-offs
At 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021
Depreciation charge for the
year
Disposals/write-offs

–

–

(28)

(972)

(1,000)

4,392

551

23,553

277

28,773

At 31 March 2022

3,272

1,126

5,291

641

10,330

At 31 March 2021

3,426

1,184

5,003

442

10,055

At 31 March 2022
Net carrying value:

80 THE HOUR GLASS LIMITED annual report 2022

13.

Right-of-use assets
The Group leases premises for office and retail use that are non-cancellable within the lease period. These
leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.
Some leases contain extension options exercisable by the Group before the end of the non-cancellable period.
These extension options are included in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities if it is
reasonably certain that the extension options will be exercised.
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year:
Group
$’000

Company
$’000

Cost:
At 1 April 2020

131,345

81,028

Additions

3,605

351

Lease modifications

6,460

3,579

Disposals/write-offs

(865)

(782)

(25)

–

140,520

84,176

Foreign currency translation adjustment
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
Additions

13,800

8,709

Lease modifications

27,377

17,071

Disposals/write-offs

(533)

–

(1,246)

–

179,918

109,956

At 1 April 2020

28,032

17,345

Depreciation charge for the year

Foreign currency translation adjustment
At 31 March 2022
Accumulated depreciation:

26,993

16,272

Disposals/write-offs

(794)

(782)

Foreign currency translation adjustment

(545)

–

As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021

53,686

32,835

Depreciation charge for the year

28,097

17,592

Disposals/write-offs

(533)

–

Foreign currency translation adjustment

(444)

–

80,806

50,427

At 31 March 2022

99,112

59,529

At 31 March 2021

86,834

51,341

At 31 March 2022
Net carrying value:
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13.

Right-of-use assets (cont’d)
The Group also has certain leases of office equipment and storage warehouses with lease terms of 12
months or less and/or with low value. The Group applies the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’
recognition exemptions for these leases.
The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:
Group
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

28,097

26,993

Interest expense on lease liabilities

2,230

2,277

Variable lease payments which do not depend on an index or rate (included in
rental expenses)

4,988

2,841

Rent concessions (included in rental expenses)

(307)

(2,599)

Government grants (included in other income)

(23)

(1,349)

Expense relating to short-term and/or low-value leases (included in rental
expenses)

65

50

Expense relating to short-term and/or low-value leases (included in other
expenses)

125

127

35,175

28,340

Total amount recognised in profit or loss

Rent concessions are COVID-19-related rent concessions received from lessors to which the Group applied
the practical expedient on Amendment to SFRS(I) 16: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions that is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.
As a practical expedient, the amendment to SFRS(I) 16 allows a lessee to elect not to assess whether a rent
concession that meets the conditions in paragraph 46B is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election
shall account for any change in lease payments resulting from the rent concession the same way it would
account for the change applying this standard if the change were not a lease modification.
The Group has applied the practical expedient allowing it not to assess whether a rent concession related to
COVID-19 is a lease modification. For rent concessions in leases to which the Group chooses not to apply the
practical expedient, or that do not qualify for the practical expedient, the Group assesses whether there is a
lease modification. The amount of rent concessions recognised in the profit or loss are disclosed above.
Government grants relate to property tax rebates received from the Singapore government that were
transferred to tenants in the form of rent rebates and rental waivers provided to eligible tenants as part of the
qualifying conditions of the cash grants.
The Group had total cash outflow for leases of $34,426,000 in 2022 (2021: $26,818,000).
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14.

Investment properties
Statements of financial position
Group

Company
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

At 1 April

143,739

96,511

11,272

11,287

Additions

36,516

72,753

–

–

Loss from fair value adjustments recognised in
income statement

(1,394)

(9,997)

–

(15)

–

(29,561)

–

–

52

14,033

–

–

178,913

143,739

11,272

11,272

Transferred to property, plant and equipment
(Note 12)
Foreign currency translation adjustment
At 31 March
Income statement

Group
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Rental income from investment properties

7,507

5,008

Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties that generated
rental income

2,057

1,245

The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to
purchase, construct or develop investment property or for repairs, maintenance or enhancements.
Valuation of investment properties
Investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been determined based on latest valuations performed
near to the end of reporting period. The valuations are performed by accredited independent valuers with
a recognised and relevant professional qualification and with recent experience in the location and category
of the properties being valued. The valuers used a combination of valuation techniques, which include the
income capitalisation, discounted cash flow and direct comparison methods. These methods require the use
of estimates such as capitalisation rates, discount rates, terminal yields and rental income. Details of valuation
techniques and inputs used are disclosed in Note 34.
Transfers to property, plant and equipment
During the last financial year, the Group reclassified a portion of the office unit at 70 Castlereagh Street and the
entire shop and office unit at 90-92 Queen Street from investment properties due to the change of intended
use of the premises (Note 12).
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14.

Investment properties (cont’d)
The investment properties held by the Group as at 31 March 2022 are as follows:
Description and location

Existing use

Tenure

Unexpired lease term

42 square metres unit at Centrepoint situated
at 176 Orchard Road, Singapore

Shop

Leasehold

56 years

114 square metres unit at Peninsula Plaza situated
at 111 North Bridge Road, Singapore

Shop

Leasehold

806 years

612 square metres unit at Eunos Warehouse
Complex at Kaki Bukit Road 2, Singapore

Warehouse

Leasehold

19 years

1,662 square metres unit at 139 Collins Street,
Melbourne, Australia

Shop and office

Freehold

NA

536 square metres unit at 181 Collins Street,
Melbourne, Australia

Shop and storage

Freehold

NA

752 square metres unit at 201 Elizabeth Street,
Brisbane, Australia

Shop and office

Freehold

NA

2,392 square metres unit at 190 Edward Street,
Brisbane, Australia

Shop and office

Freehold

NA

854 square metres unit at 112-116 Queen Street,
Auckland, New Zealand

Shop and office

Freehold

NA

116 square metres office unit at Wisma UOA II,
21 Jalan Pinang, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Office

Freehold

NA

Certain subsidiaries’ investment properties with carrying value of $159,811,000 (2021: $124,925,000) are
charged to secure the bank borrowings of those subsidiaries (Note 24).
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15.

Intangible assets

Goodwill
$’000

Brands
$’000

Customer
relationships
$’000

Software
$’000

Total
$’000

9,364

4,780

835

2,207

17,186

–

–

–

156

156

1,066

21

95

–

1,182

10,430

4,801

930

2,363

18,524

–

–

–

286

286

(23)

–

(2)

–

(25)

10,407

4,801

928

2,649

18,785

At 1 April 2020

–

498

69

1,332

1,899

Amortisation charge for the
year

–

92

455

621

1,168

Foreign currency translation
adjustment

–

–

18

–

18

At 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021

–

590

542

1,953

3,085

Amortisation charge for the
year

–

92

386

324

802

4,161

–

–

–

4,161

64

–

–

–

64

4,225

682

928

2,277

8,112

At 31 March 2022

6,182

4,119

–

372

10,673

At 31 March 2021

10,430

4,211

388

410

15,439

Group
Cost:
At 1 April 2020
Additions
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
At 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021
Additions
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
At 31 March 2022
Accumulated amortisation
and impairment loss:

Impairment loss
Foreign currency translation
adjustment
At 31 March 2022
Net carrying value:

Brands relate to various brand names that were acquired in business combinations. Included in carrying amount
of brands is an amount of $207,000 (2021: $207,000) with indefinite useful life. The remaining balance of
$3,912,000 (2021: $4,004,000) has remaining amortisation periods of 42 (2021: 43 years).
Software and customer relationships have average remaining amortisation periods of 1 and Nil (2021: 1 and 1)
years respectively.
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the cash generating unit (“CGU”), which is the
watch and jewellery business of The Hour Glass (NZ) Limited.
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15.

Intangible assets (cont’d)
Impairment testing of goodwill
The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined based on value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections from financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. The pre-tax discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections and the forecasted growth rates used to extrapolate cash flow
projections beyond the five-year period are as follows:
2022

2021

Pre-tax discount rate

16.9%

15.5%

Terminal growth rate

2.0%

1.5%

Key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculation
The calculation of value-in-use for the CGU is most sensitive to the following assumptions:


Terminal growth rate – the forecasted growth rate is based on industry growth forecasts and not exceeding
the average long-term growth rate for the relevant market of the CGU.



Pre-tax discount rate – the discount rate represents the current market assessment of the risks specific
to the CGU, regarding the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets which have
not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific
circumstances of the Group and its operating segments and derived from its weighted average cost of
capital (“WACC”). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity.

As a result of the assessment, the Group recognised an impairment loss of $4,161,000 (2021: $Nil) on
goodwill in the consolidated income statement to write down the carrying amount of the CGU to its estimated
recoverable amount.
Software
$’000
Company
Cost:
At 1 April 2020
Additions
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
Additions
At 31 March 2022

2,207
156
2,363
286
2,649

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 April 2020
Amortisation charge for the year
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
Amortisation charge for the year
At 31 March 2022

1,332
621
1,953
324
2,277

Net carrying value:
At 31 March 2022

372

At 31 March 2021

410
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16.

Investment in subsidiaries
Company

Shares, at cost

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

118,396

118,371

Details of the subsidiaries as at 31 March are:

Name of company/
Principal activities

Principal place
of business and
incorporation

Percentage of
equity held by
the Group
2022
2021
%
%

Cost of
investments
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

Held by the Company
Retailing and distribution of watches,
jewellery and related products


Dynasty Watch Pte Ltd

Singapore



Glajz-THG Pte Ltd

Singapore

60

60

990

990



The Hour Glass Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

100

100

2,045

2,045



The Hour Glass (HK) Limited

Hong Kong

100

100

10,261

10,261



The Hour Glass (Australia) Pty Ltd

Australia

100

100

51,815

51,815



The Hour Glass Japan Ltd

Japan

100

100

3,630

3,630



Watches of Switzerland Pte Ltd

Singapore

100

100

13,338

13,338



The Hour Glass (NZ) Limited

New Zealand

100

100

35,790

35,790



The Hour Glass (Taiwan) Limited
Company

Republic of
China

100

–

25

–



The Hour Glass (Shanghai)
Co., Limited

People’s
Republic of
China

100

–

–*

–



The Hour Glass (Macau) Limited

Macau

100

–

–*

–

49

49

2

2

118,396

118,371

100

100

500

500

Investment holding


The Hour Glass Holding
(Thailand) Co., Ltd

Thailand
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16.

Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Name of company/
Principal activities

Principal place
of business and
incorporation

Percentage of equity
held by the Group
2022
2021
%
%

Held through subsidiaries
Retailing and distribution of watches,
jewellery and related products


THG (HK) Limited

Hong Kong

100

100



The Hour Glass (Thailand) Co., Ltd

Thailand

49

49



Watches of Switzerland (2014) Sdn Bhd

Malaysia

100

100



Watches of Switzerland (NZ) Limited

New Zealand

100

100



OT Limited

Japan

65

65



Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore.



Audited by member firms of Ernst & Young Global in the respective countries.



Not required to be audited under the laws of its country of incorporation.



The Group holds a 98.97% controlling interest in the subsidiary through its voting rights.



Incorporated during the financial year.



In the process of voluntary liquidation.

*

Share capital remains unpaid as at 31 March 2022.
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16.

Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)
The Group has the following subsidiary that has non-controlling interests (“NCI”) that are material to the Group:
Glajz-THG Pte Ltd
2022
2021
%
%
Proportion of ownership interest held by NCI

Profit after tax allocated to NCI

40

40

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

2,278

1,893

15,106

14,515

1,828

704

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

449

606

Current assets

41,204

39,790

Current liabilities

(3,623)

(3,745)

(266)

(364)

37,764

36,287

57,298

48,138

5,694

4,732

5,950

3,718

Accumulated NCI at the end of the reporting period
Dividends paid to NCI
Summarised financial information about subsidiary with material NCI

Statement of financial position
Non-current assets

Non-current liabilities
Net assets
Statement of comprehensive income
Revenue
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive income for the year
Other summarised information
Net cash flows from operations
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17.

Investment in associates
The Group’s investment in associates is summarised below:
Group

THG Prima Times Co., Ltd and its subsidiaries

Name of company/
Principal activities

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

54,575

46,407

Principal place
of business and
incorporation

Proportion of
ownership interest
2022
2021
%
%

Held through subsidiary
Retailing and distribution of watches and other luxury products


THG Prima Times Co., Ltd

Thailand

49

49

Held through associates
Retailing and distribution of watches and related products


Royal Paragon Watch Limited

Thailand

30 *

30



THG S&S Company Limited

Vietnam

25

25



S&S – Indochine Company Limited

Vietnam

25

25



THG Prima Times (Vietnam) Company Limited

Vietnam

49

–

Thailand

49

49

Retailing and distribution of watches and leasing of building,
furniture, equipment and properties


Siam Dynasty Limited



Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Ltd, Thailand.



Audited by PwC (Vietnam) Limited, Vietnam.



Incorporated during the financial year.

*

On 1 April 2022, THG Prima Times Co., Ltd acquired the entire holding of 300,000 shares in Royal
Paragon Holding Company Limited for a consideration of Baht 33.6 million. As a result, Royal Paragon
Watch Limited became a wholly-owned subsidiary of THG Prima Times Co., Ltd.
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17.

Investment in associates (cont’d)
The summarised financial information of the associates material to the Group, based on their IFRS financial
statements and a reconciliation with the carrying amount of the investment in the consolidated financial
statements are as follows:
THG Prima Times Co., Ltd
and its subsidiaries
2022
2021
$’000
$’000
Statement of financial position
Current assets

94,831

88,683

Non-current assets

26,992

18,122

121,823

106,805

9,325

7,301

Total assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Less: NCI of an associate

Proportion of the Group’s ownership
Group’s share of net assets/carrying amount of the investment

1,674

860

10,999

8,161

110,824

98,644

(1,674)

(5,830)

109,150

92,814

50%

50%

54,575

46,407

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

184,954

131,734

31,514

18,009

Statement of comprehensive income
Revenue
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive income for the year
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18.

Trade and other receivables

2022
$’000

Group
2021
$’000

Company
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

Trade receivables

8,469

7,687

1,827

715

Deposits

3,962

3,037

1,243

742

Note

Trade and other receivables
(current)

Other receivables

7,143

4,901

5,371

3,553

19,574

15,625

8,441

5,010

7,233

7,620

4,444

4,308

26,807

23,245

12,885

9,318

26,615

23,058

12,885

9,318

192

187

–

–

26,615

23,058

12,885

9,318

Other receivables (non-current)
Deposits
Total trade and other receivables
(current and non-current)
Representing:
- Financial assets
- Non-financial assets
Financial assets
Add:
- Amounts due from associates

21

85

109

–

37

- Amounts due from subsidiaries

22

–

–

4,975

6,088

- Cash and bank balances

23

323,360

247,872

162,835

140,675

350,060

271,039

180,695

156,118

Total financial assets carried at
amortised cost

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally up to 90 days’ terms. They are recognised at their
original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.
Expected credit losses
The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables computed based on lifetime ECLs
are as follows:
Group
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

At 1 April

–

227

Write back of allowance for expected credit losses (Note 8)

–

(17)

Written off

–

(213)

Foreign currency translation adjustment

–

3

At 31 March

–

–

Movement in allowance accounts:
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18.

Trade and other receivables (cont’d)
Expected credit losses (cont’d)
The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of other receivables computed based on 12-months
ECLs are as follows:
Group
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

822

702

Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 8)

27

144

Foreign currency translation adjustment

(5)

(24)

844

822

Movement in allowance accounts:
At 1 April

At 31 March

The following foreign currency denominated amounts, which differ from the functional currencies of the
companies within the Group, are included in trade and other receivables:
Group

British Pound
Swiss Franc
Australian Dollar
Euro
Singapore Dollar
19.

Company

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

48

278

48

278

6,489

3,805

4,616

2,230

261

325

–

–

9

349

9

318

61

43

–

–

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
Group
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Company
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

As presented in the statements of financial
position
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

962

1,686

587

579

(6,641)

(1,005)

–

–

(5,679)

681

587

579
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19.

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (cont’d)
Group
Consolidated
statement of financial
position
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

Company

Consolidated
income statement
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

Consolidated
statement of
comprehensive income
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

Statement of
financial position
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

Deferred tax liabilities
Differences in
depreciation and
amortisation for tax
purposes

(9,548)

(935)

8,417

(196)

–

–

(408)

(379)

–

(808)

(794)

560

–

–

–

–

(577)

(591)

(16)

(16)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(27)

–

–

–

–

(10,125)

(2,334)

(408)

(379)

Provisions and other
temporary differences

4,105

3,015

(1,081)

323

–

–

995

958

Revaluation of
investment properties
to fair value

341

–

(320)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

67

–

–

–

–

4,446

3,015

6,206

711

–

–

995

958

Revaluation of
investment properties
to fair value
Fair value adjustment
on business
combinations
Other items

Deferred tax assets

Other items
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19.

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (cont’d)
Movement in deferred income tax account is as follows:
Group
2021
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

681

1,581

579

452

(6,206)

(711)

8

127

(154)

(189)

–

–

(5,679)

681

587

579

At 1 April
Recognised in profit or loss
Foreign currency translation adjustment
At 31 March

Company

2022
$’000

Unrecognised temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
As at 31 March 2022, no deferred tax liability has been recognised for taxes that would be payable on the
undistributed earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries as the Group has determined that undistributed
earnings of its subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable future. Such temporary differences for
which no deferred tax liability has been recognised aggregated to $98,437,000 (2021: $78,622,000). The
deferred tax liability is estimated to be $8,404,000 (2021: $6,583,000).
Tax consequences of proposed dividends
There are no income tax consequences for 2022 and 2021 attached to the dividends to the shareholders
proposed by the Company and hence no liability has been recognised in the financial statements (Note 10).
20.

Inventories
Group

Company

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

254,126

259,096

164,480

159,741

Statements of financial position
Finished goods at lower of cost and net
realisable value

Group
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

712,384

535,789

(3,558)

(1,660)

Income statement
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales
Write back of allowance for inventories

The reversal of write-down of allowance for inventories was made when the related inventories were sold above
their net realisable value during the year.
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21.

Amounts due from/(to) associates
Group

Company

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

85

75

–

3

–

34

–

34

85

109

–

37

–

(170)

–

(170)

85

(61)

–

(133)

Amounts due from associates
- trade
- non-trade

Amounts due to associates
- trade

Trade balances with associates are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are normally settled within the normal
trade terms.
Non-trade balances with associates are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
22.

Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries
Company
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

–

35

4,975

6,053

4,975

6,088

(193)

(155)

(9,341)

(8,222)

(9,534)

(8,377)

(4,559)

(2,289)

Amounts due from subsidiaries
- trade
- non-trade

Amounts due to subsidiaries
- trade
- non-trade

Trade balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable within the normal trade
terms.
Non-trade balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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23.

Cash and bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated cash flow statement comprise the following at the end
of the reporting period:
Group

Company
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Cash at bank and on hand

265,998

228,164

111,946

133,702

Fixed deposits with banks

57,362

19,708

50,889

6,973

323,360

247,872

162,835

140,675

Cash at bank and on hand and fixed deposits with banks earn interest at floating rates based on bank deposit
rates. Fixed deposits with banks are made for varying short term periods depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group.
The following foreign currency denominated amounts, which differ from the functional currencies of the
companies within the Group, are included in cash and bank balances:
Group
2021
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

636

1,347

281

172

Singapore Dollar

8,847

9,093

–

–

Australian Dollar

227

359

–

–

5

116

–

–

49,362

35,138

39,383

26,110

16

39

11

34

Swiss Franc

Hong Kong Dollar
United States Dollar
Others
24.

Company

2022
$’000

Loans and borrowings
Group

Secured loans
Unsecured loan

2022

2021

$’000

$’000

98,834

92,891

12,203

12,230

111,037

105,121
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24.

Loans and borrowings (cont’d)
(a)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s secured loans of $98,834,000 (2021: $92,891,000) are repayable
within 12 months after the reporting date. Interest is charged at rates ranging from 0.86% to 2.25%
(2021: 0.86% to 2.42%) per annum.
The loans are secured by first mortgage over certain freehold land and premises (Note 12) and
investment properties (Note 14) of certain subsidiaries and corporate guarantees provided by the
Company (Note 31).
The secured loans are denominated in the following currencies:
Group

(b)

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Australian Dollar

71,330

65,326

New Zealand Dollar

27,504

27,565

98,834

92,891

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s unsecured revolving credit facility of $12,203,000 (2021: $12,230,000)
is repayable within 12 months after the reporting date. Interest is charged at rates ranging from 1.59% to
2.47% (2021: 1.56% to 2.56%) per annum.
The unsecured loan is denominated in New Zealand Dollar.

(c)

In 2016, the Company established a $500,000,000 Multicurrency Medium Term Note Programme (the
“Programme”). The net proceeds arising from the issuance of the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
(the “Note”) under the Programme (after deducting issue expenses) can be used for general corporate
purposes, including financing investments, acquisitions and strategic expansions, general working
capital and capital expenditure requirements of the Company and its subsidiaries as well as to refinance
existing borrowings of the Company and its subsidiaries or such other purpose as may be specified in
the relevant pricing supplement. No Note has been issued by the Company at the end of the reporting
period (2021: $Nil).
A reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:

Loans and borrowings

Loans and borrowings

2021

Cash flows

Foreign
exchange
movement
(non-cash)

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

105,121

6,695

(779)

111,037

2021

2022

2020

Cash flows

Foreign
exchange
movement
(non-cash)

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

64,467

30,118

10,536

105,121
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25.

Trade and other payables
Group
Note

Company
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Trade payables

31,589

18,080

9,399

3,801

Deposits from customers

17,774

19,829

8,167

10,498

Accruals

21,279

18,330

14,354

12,209

Provisions

1,268

1,144

697

637

Other payables

2,536

2,976

1,138

2,370

74,446

60,359

33,755

29,515

70,747

55,730

31,630

26,500

3,699

4,629

2,125

3,015

70,747

55,730

31,630

26,500

–

–

Trade and other payables

Total trade and other payables
Representing:
- Financial liabilities
- Non-financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Add:
- Loans and borrowings

24

111,037

105,121

- Amounts due to associates

21

–

170

–

170

- Amounts due to subsidiaries

22

–

–

9,534

8,377

- Lease liabilities

26

105,321

92,391

63,361

55,178

287,105

253,412

104,525

90,225

Total financial liabilities carried at
amortised cost

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within the normal trade terms.
The following foreign currency denominated amounts, which differ from the functional currencies of the
companies within the Group, are included in trade and other payables:
Group

Company
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Singapore Dollar

2,752

366

–

–

Swiss Franc

3,844

4,766

1,874

480

178

129

111

80

Others
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26.

Lease liabilities
The table below sets out the carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year:
Group
2021
$’000

92,391

107,343

Additions

13,683

3,575

8,649

321

Lease modifications

27,377

6,430

17,071

3,549

Disposals/write-offs

–

(71)

–

–

(29,578)

(27,748)

(18,760)

(16,747)

2,230

2,277

1,223

1,294

(782)

585

–

–

105,321

92,391

63,361

55,178

28,823

22,769

18,326

14,870

At 1 April

Payments
Accretion of interest
Foreign currency translation adjustment
At 31 March
Current
Non-current

27.

Company
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

2022
$’000

55,178

66,761

76,498

69,622

45,035

40,308

105,321

92,391

63,361

55,178

Share capital and treasury shares
(a)

Share capital
Group and Company
2022
No. of
shares
‘000

705,012

2021

$’000

No. of
shares
‘000

$’000

67,638

705,012

67,638

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares:
Balance at beginning of the year and
end of the year

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company.
All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions. The ordinary shares have no par value.
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27.

Share capital and treasury shares (cont’d)
(b)

Treasury shares
Group and Company
2022
No. of
shares
‘000
At 1 April

2021

$’000

No. of
shares
‘000

$’000

(1,030)

(590)

(1,030)

(590)

Acquired during the financial year

(21,403)

(34,087)

–

–

At 31 March

(22,433)

(34,677)

(1,030)

(590)

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that are held by the Company.
The Company acquired 21,403,000 (2021: Nil) shares in the Company through purchases on the
Singapore Exchange during the financial year. The total amount paid to acquire the shares was
$34,087,000 (2021: $Nil) and this was presented as a component within shareholders’ equity.
28.

Reserves
Group

Company
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

722,077

608,925

392,317

340,163

Foreign currency translation reserve

(6,600)

817

–

–

Asset revaluation reserve

3,303

3,303

–

–

(142)

(142)

–

–

718,638

612,903

392,317

340,163

Revenue reserve

Capital reserve
Total reserves
Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s
presentation currency.
Asset revaluation reserve
The asset revaluation reserve represents increases in the fair value of premises, net of tax, and decreases
to the extent that such decrease relates to an increase on the same asset previously recognised in other
comprehensive income.
Capital reserve
The capital reserve represents the effects of change in ownership interests in a subsidiary when there is no
change in control.
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29.

Related party transactions
(a)

Sale and purchase of goods and services
In addition to those related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the
following significant transactions between the Group and related parties who are not members of the
Group took place at terms agreed between the parties during the year:
Sale
of goods
$’000

Purchase
of goods
$’000

Services
rendered
$’000

Rental
expenses
$’000

Rental
income
$’000

Commission
received
$’000

48

415

–

–

–

31

2022
Associates
Directors and close family
members of directors of
the Company

949

–

600

–

–

–

Directors-related companies

–

–

–

393

28

–

Key management personnel

360

–

–

120

–

–

3

385

–

–

–

31

2,515

13

600

–

–

–

Directors-related companies

–

2

–

345

29

–

Key management personnel

219

–

–

120

–

–

2021
Associates
Directors and close family
members of directors of
the Company
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29.

Related party transactions (cont’d)
(b)

Compensation of key management personnel
Group

Short-term employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
Total compensation paid to key management personnel

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

11,593

8,530

97

111

11,690

8,641

7,660

5,057

Comprise amounts paid to:
- Directors of the Company
- Other key management personnel

30.

4,030

3,584

11,690

8,641

Commitments
(a)

Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for as at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the
financial statements are as follows:
Group

Capital expenditure in respect of
property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets:
(b)

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

1,499

508

Company
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

33

391

Operating lease commitments – As lessor
The Group and the Company have entered into commercial property leases on its properties portfolio.
These non-cancellable leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.
Future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases at the end of the
reporting period but not recognised as receivables, are as follows:
Group

Not later than one year
Later than one year but not later than
five years
Later than five years

Company
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

5,945

5,852

147

470

17,090

13,842

69

798

6,080

2,345

–

–

29,115

22,039

216

1,268
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30.

Commitments (cont’d)
(c)

Operating lease commitments – As lessee
During the financial year, the Group and the Company have entered into commercial leases on certain
properties under lease agreements that have not yet commenced as at the end of the reporting period.
These leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights and are non-cancellable within the
lease period.
Future minimum lease payments payable under these non-cancellable operating leases at the end of the
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:
Group

31.

Company
2022
2021
$’000
$’000

2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Not later than one year

244

2,145

88

1,883

Later than one year but not later than
five years

600

8,009

237

6,493

844

10,154

325

8,376

Contingent liabilities and other commitments
Guarantees
The Company has provided corporate guarantees to banks for loans of $111,037,000 (2021: $105,121,000)
obtained by subsidiaries (Note 24). The loans are repayable within the next 12 months.

32.

Segment information
For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products
and services which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the
performance of the respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the
management of the Company who regularly reviews the segment results in order to allocate resources to the
segments and to assess the segment performance.
Reporting format
The primary segment reporting format is determined to be geographical segments as the operating businesses
are organised and managed separately according to the location of the Group’s assets, with each segment
representing a strategic business unit to serve that market.
Geographical segments
The Group’s geographical segments are based on the location of the Group’s assets. Sales to external
customers disclosed in geographical segments are based on the country of operation.
Business segment
The Group comprises only one business segment which is the retailing and distribution of watches and
jewellery and other luxury products. All relevant information regarding the business segment has been
disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements.
Allocation basis and transfer pricing
Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can
be allocated on a reasonable basis.
Transfer prices between geographical segments are set on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to
transactions with third parties. Segment revenue, expenses and results include transfers between geographical
segments. These transfers are eliminated on consolidation.
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32.

Segment information (cont’d)
Geographical segments
The following table presents revenue, capital expenditure and certain assets and liabilities information
regarding the Group’s geographical segments for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
South East
Asia and
Oceania
$’000

North East
Asia
$’000

Total
$’000

Eliminations
$’000

921,043

112,361

1,033,404

–

16,432

19

16,451

(16,451)

Note

Group
$’000

2022
Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers
Inter-segment sales
Interest income
Other income
Revenue and other income

449

2

451

–

43,504

(244)

43,260

(33,189)

981,428

112,138

1,093,566

(49,640)

208,049

19,460

227,509

(26,906)

1,033,404
A

–

B

10,071

451

1,043,926

Segment results:
Segment results
Finance costs

(1)

C

200,603
(3,707)

Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment

(2,483)

Impairment loss on goodwill

(4,161)

Fair value loss on
investment properties

(1,394)

Share of results of associates

15,655

Profit before taxation

204,513

Taxation

(47,501)

Profit for the year

157,012

Other segment information:
Segment assets
Investment in associates

927,370

111,296

1,038,666

–

1,038,666

54,575

–

54,575

–

54,575
1,093,241

Segment liabilities

291,748

33,953

325,701

–

325,701

Capital expenditure for
the year

10,059

3,031

13,090

–

13,090

Depreciation and
amortisation (2)

32,339

6,921

39,260

–

39,260

(1)

Includes interest on lease liabilities

(2)

Includes depreciation of right-of-use assets
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32.

Segment information (cont’d)
Geographical segments (cont’d)
South East
Asia and
Oceania
$’000

North East
Asia
$’000

Total
$’000

646,846

96,085

742,931

–

2,940

316

3,256

(3,256)

609

8

617

–

Eliminations
$’000

Note

Group
$’000

2021
Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers
Inter-segment sales
Interest income
Other income
Revenue and other income

45,374

222

45,596

(37,355)

695,769

96,631

792,400

(40,611)

132,805

13,263

146,068

(32,163)

742,931
A

–
617

B

8,241
751,789

Segment results:
Segment results
Finance costs

(1)

C

113,905
(3,405)

Fair value loss on
investment properties

(9,997)

Share of results of associates

9,388

Profit before taxation

109,891

Taxation

(25,353)

Profit for the year

84,538

Other segment information:
Segment assets
Investment in associates

835,149

89,369

924,518

–

924,518

46,407

–

46,407

–

46,407
970,925

Segment liabilities

251,958

23,643

275,601

–

275,601

Capital expenditure for
the year

84,953

461

85,414

–

85,414

Depreciation and
amortisation (2)

28,708

7,235

35,943

–

35,943

(1)

Includes interest on lease liabilities

(2)

Includes depreciation of right-of-use assets
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32.

Segment information (cont’d)
Geographical segments (cont’d)
Notes

Nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated financial
statements

A

Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

B

Inter-company dividends are eliminated on consolidation.

C

The following items are deducted from segment results to arrive at “Profit before taxation” presented in
the consolidated income statement.
Group
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

(4)

(269)

Inter-company dividends

(26,902)

(31,894)

Total

(26,906)

(32,163)

Inter-company income

33.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from operations and the use of financial
instruments. The key risks include interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The Group
reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks.
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risks.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates.
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from its loans and borrowings and fixed deposits.
The Group’s borrowings are predominantly denominated in floating rates and are expected to be repriced at
intervals of less than one year from the financial year end. At present, the Group’s policy is to obtain the most
favourable interest rate arrangements available.
Cash surpluses arising from operations, which are not redeployed as working capital, are placed with reputable
banks.
As at the end of the reporting period, if the interest of the floating rate loans and borrowings had been 100
(2021: 100) basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit net of tax would
have been $785,000 (2021: $744,000) lower/higher, arising mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense
on floating rate loans and borrowings.
Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency exposure arising from sales and purchases that are denominated in a
currency other than the respective functional currencies of the Group companies, primarily Swiss Franc (CHF),
Australian Dollar (AUD) and Euro (EUR).
The Group and the Company also hold cash and bank balances denominated in foreign currencies for working
capital purposes. At the end of the reporting period, such foreign currency balances amounted to $59,093,000
and $39,675,000 (2021: $46,092,000 and $26,316,000) for the Group and the Company respectively.
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33.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
Foreign currency risk (cont’d)
The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in foreign operations.
The currency exposures are limited to the Australian Dollar (AUD), Hong Kong Dollar (HKD), United States
Dollar (USD), Japanese Yen (JPY), Malaysian Ringgit (MYR), New Zealand Dollar (NZD), Thai Baht (BAHT)
and Vietnamese Dong (VND). The Group’s net investments in foreign operations are not hedged as they are
considered to be long-term in nature.
Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in the USD and CHF exchange
rate against SGD, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit net of tax:
Group
2022
Profit net
of tax
$’000

2021
Profit net
of tax
$’000

USD
- Strengthened 5% (2021: 5%)

2,051

1,535

- Weakened 5% (2021: 5%)

(2,051)

(1,535)

- Strengthened 5% (2021: 5%)

143

33

- Weakened 5% (2021: 5%)

(143)

(33)

CHF

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations
due to shortage of funds.
The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is minimal. As at 31 March 2022, the Group has available cash and bank
balances totalling approximately $323,360,000 (2021: $247,872,000) to finance its operations. The Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and bank balances deemed adequate by the management to finance the
operations of the Group. Short-term funding may be obtained from banking facilities where necessary.
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33.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
Liquidity risk (cont’d)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and
liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

Group

One year
or less
$’000

2022
One to
five years
$’000

Total
$’000

19,382

7,233

26,615

85

–

85

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from associates
Cash and bank balances

323,360

–

323,360

Total undiscounted financial assets

342,827

7,233

350,060

70,747

–

70,747

112,751

–

112,751

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Lease liabilities

30,800

79,484

110,284

Total undiscounted financial liabilities

214,298

79,484

293,782

Total net undiscounted financial assets/(liabilities)

128,529

(72,251)

56,278

One year
or less
$’000

2021
One to
five years
$’000

Total
$’000

15,438

7,620

23,058

Group
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from associates

109

–

109

Cash and bank balances

247,872

–

247,872

Total undiscounted financial assets

263,419

7,620

271,039

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Amounts due to associates
Lease liabilities
Total undiscounted financial liabilities
Total net undiscounted financial assets/(liabilities)

55,730

–

55,730

105,183

–

105,183

170

–

170

24,513

72,678

97,191

185,596

72,678

258,274

77,823

(65,058)

12,765
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33.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
Liquidity risk (cont’d)

One year
or less
$’000

2022
One to
five years
$’000

Total
$’000

Trade and other receivables

8,441

4,444

12,885

Amounts due from subsidiaries

4,975

–

4,975

Company
Financial assets

Cash and bank balances

162,835

–

162,835

Total undiscounted financial assets

176,251

4,444

180,695

31,630

–

31,630

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to subsidiaries

9,534

–

9,534

Lease liabilities

19,381

46,339

65,720

Total undiscounted financial liabilities

60,545

46,339

106,884

115,706

(41,895)

73,811

One year
or less
$’000

2021
One to
five years
$’000

Total
$’000

5,010

4,308

9,318

37

–

37

6,088

–

6,088

Total net undiscounted financial assets/(liabilities)

Company
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from associates
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Cash and bank balances

140,675

–

140,675

Total undiscounted financial assets

151,810

4,308

156,118

26,500

–

26,500

170

–

170

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Amounts due to associates
Amounts due to subsidiaries

8,377

–

8,377

Lease liabilities

15,851

41,711

57,562

Total undiscounted financial liabilities

50,898

41,711

92,609

100,912

(37,403)

63,509

Total net undiscounted financial assets/(liabilities)
All capital commitments are repayable within one year.
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33.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default
on its obligations. It is the Group’s policy to transact with creditworthy counterparties. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an on-going basis with the granting of material credit limits to counterparties being
reviewed and approved by senior management.
With respect to credit risk arising from other financial instruments (including cash and bank balances), the Group
and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing with high credit rating counterparties.
The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk on an on-going basis throughout each reporting period.
Simplified approach
For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and economic environment.
General approach
The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other financial assets not held at fair value
through profit or loss. Under the general approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs at initial recognition.
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When credit risk has increased significantly, the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and includes forward-looking
information.
If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the financial
instruments improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 180 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also considers a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
Exposure to credit risk
At the balance sheet date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by
the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statement of financial position.
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are with creditworthy debtors with good
payment record with the Group. Cash and bank balances that are neither past due nor impaired are placed
with or entered into with reputable financial institutions or companies with high credit ratings and no history of
default.
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33.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
Credit risk (cont’d)
Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 18 (trade and
other receivables).
There is no significant concentration of credit risk within the Group and the Company.

34.

Fair value of assets and liabilities
(a)

Fair value hierarchy
The Group categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on the
valuation inputs used as follows:
-

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities that the Group
can access at the measurement date,

-

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly, and

-

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety in
the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement.
There was no transfer from Level 1 and Level 2 to Level 3 during the financial years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021.
(b)

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value
The following table shows an analysis of each class of assets and liabilities measured at fair value at the
end of the reporting period:
Group
31 March 2022
$’000
Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting
period using
Quoted
prices
Significant
in active
observable
markets for
inputs other
Significant
identical
than quoted
unobservable
instruments
prices
inputs
Total
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
Recurring fair value measurements
Assets
Non-financial assets:
Investment properties (Note 14)

–

–

178,913

178,913

Total non-financial assets

–

–

178,913

178,913
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34.

Fair value of assets and liabilities (cont’d)
(b)

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value (cont’d)
Group
31 March 2021
$’000
Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting
period using
Quoted
prices
Significant
in active
observable
markets for
inputs other
Significant
identical
than quoted
unobservable
instruments
prices
inputs
Total
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
Recurring fair value measurements
Assets
Non-financial assets:
Investment properties (Note 14)

–

–

143,739

143,739

Total non-financial assets

–

–

143,739

143,739
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34.

Fair value of assets and liabilities (cont’d)
(c)

Level 3 fair value measurements
(i)

Information about significant unobservable inputs used in Level 3 fair value measurements
The following table shows the information about fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3):

Description

Fair Value
$’000

Valuation
Techniques

Unobservable
Inputs

Range

At 31 March 2022
Investment properties

178,913

Capitalisation
approach

Capitalisation
rate (1)

Shops:
3.25% - 5.00%

Direct
comparison
method

Price per square
metre (2)

Shops:
$42,900 - $133,100
Warehouse:
$2,100 - $2,600
Office:
$2,600 - $2,900

Discount rate (3)

Shops:
4.75% - 6.00%

Terminal yield (4)

Shops:
3.50% - 5.25%

Capitalisation
approach

Capitalisation
rate (1)

Shops:
3.25% - 5.25%

Direct
comparison
method

Price per square
metre (2)

Shops:
$44,600 - $57,100

Discounted
cash flow

At 31 March 2021
Investment properties

143,739

Warehouse:
$1,900 - $2,500
Office:
$2,600 - $2,900
Discounted
cash flow

Discount rate (3)

Shops:
5.00% - 6.25%

Terminal yield (4)

Shops:
3.50% - 5.50%

(1)

The fair value measurement varies inversely against the capitalisation rate.

(2)

Any significant isolated increase/(decrease) in these inputs would result in a significantly
higher/(lower) fair value measurement.

(3)

The fair value measurement varies inversely against the discount rate.

(4)

The fair value measurement varies inversely against the terminal yield.
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34.

Fair value of assets and liabilities (cont’d)
(c)

Level 3 fair value measurements (cont’d)
(ii)

Movements in Level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value
During the year, the Group recognised a fair value loss of $1,394,000 (2021: $9,997,000) on its
investment properties. The disclosure of the movement in the investment properties balance in
Note 14 constitutes a reconciliation of the movement of assets which are measured at fair value
based on significant unobservable inputs.

(iii)

Valuation policies and procedures
The senior management of the Group (the “Management”) oversees the Group’s financial
reporting valuation process and is responsible for setting and documenting the Group’s valuation
policies and procedures. In this regard, the Management reports to the Group’s Audit Committee.
For all significant financial reporting valuations using valuation models and significant unobservable
inputs, it is the Group’s policy to engage external valuation experts to perform the valuation. The
Management is responsible for selecting and engaging valuation experts that possess the relevant
credentials and knowledge on the subject of valuation, valuation methodologies, and SFRS(I) 13
fair value measurement guidance.
For valuations performed by external valuation experts, the Management reviews the
appropriateness of the valuation methodologies and assumptions adopted. The Management also
evaluates the appropriateness and reliability of the inputs used in the valuations.
Significant changes in fair value measurements from period to period are evaluated by the
Management for reasonableness. Key drivers of the changes are identified and assessed for
reasonableness against relevant information from independent sources, or internal sources if
necessary and appropriate.

(d)

Fair value of financial instruments whose carrying amounts approximate their fair values
Management has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and other
receivables, amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries, amounts due from/(to) associates, trade and other
payables and loans and borrowings, based on their notional amounts, reasonably approximate their fair
values because these are mostly short term in nature or are repriced frequently.
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35.

Capital management
Capital includes debt and equity items.
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating
and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. In order to maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividend payment, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or obtain new borrowings.
The Group monitors the capital based on net cash and debt-to-equity ratio. The debt-to-equity ratio is
calculated as loans and borrowings divided by equity attributable to owners of the Company. There were no
changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.
Group
2022
$’000

2021
$’000

Cash and bank balances

323,360

247,872

Less: Loans and borrowings

(111,037)

(105,121)

Net cash

212,323

142,751

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

751,599

679,951

14.8%

15.5%

Debt-to-equity ratio
36.

Authorisation of financial statements for issue
The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 were authorised for issue in accordance with a
resolution of the Directors on 31 May 2022.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 7 JUNE 2022
Number of Issued Shares (including Treasury Shares)
Number of Treasury Shares
Number of Issued Shares (excluding Treasury Shares)
Number of Subsidiary Holdings (1)
Percentage of Aggregate Number of Treasury Shares and
Subsidiary Holdings against Number of Issued Shares
Class of Shares
Voting Rights (excluding Treasury Shares)

:
:
:
:

705,011,880
31,548,000
673,463,880
Nil

:
:
:

4.47%
Ordinary
One vote per ordinary share

(1)

“Subsidiary Holdings” is defined in the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited to mean shares
referred to in Sections 21(4), 21(4B), 21(6A) and 21(6C) of the Companies Act 1967.
Note: The information does not take into account share buy-backs by the Company carried out between 6 and 7 June 2022.

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
Size of Shareholdings
1 - 99
100 - 1,000
1,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 1,000,000
1,000,001 and above
Total :

No. of
Shareholders

%

No. of Shares

%

52
258
830
923
22
2,085

2.49
12.37
39.81
44.27
1.06
100.00

2,333
154,567
4,265,641
48,454,965
620,586,374
673,463,880

0.00
0.02
0.63
7.20
92.15
100.00

PUBLIC FLOAT
Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited requires a listed company to
ensure that at least 10% of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares (excluding preference shares
and convertible equity securities) in a class that is listed is at all times held by the public. The Company has complied
with this requirement. As at 7 June 2022, approximately 22.68% of its ordinary shares listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited were held in the hands of the public.
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
No. of Shares
Name
TYC Investment Pte Ltd
Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan
AMSTAY Pte Ltd
Dato’ Dr Jannie Chan Siew Lee
FMR LLC
Fidelity Management & Research
Company LLC
Abigail P. Johnson








Direct

No. of Shares
%

Deemed

%

340,291,669
65,003,368
36,881,200
99,300
–

50.04
9.56
5.23
0.01
–

–
378,172,869 
–
340,291,669 
44,260,743 

–
55.61 
–
48.27 
6.51 

–
–

–
–

40,752,392 
44,260,743 

6.00 
6.51 

“%” No. of Shares, as reflected in the Register of Substantial Shareholders:
(a) for TYC Investment Pte Ltd and Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan, were based on 680,086,880 issued ordinary shares (excluding
treasury shares);
(b) for AMSTAY Pte Ltd and Dato’ Dr Jannie Chan Siew Lee, were based on 705,011,880 issued ordinary shares, of which none
were treasury shares; and
(c) for FMR LLC, Fidelity Management & Research Company LLC and Abigail P. Johnson, were based on 679,437,880 issued
ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares).
Dr Henry Tay Yun Chwan’s deemed interests arise from his interests in TYC Investment Pte Ltd, AMSTAY Pte Ltd and AMS Lifestyle
Pte. Ltd..
Dato’ Dr Jannie Chan Siew Lee’s deemed interest arises from her interest in TYC Investment Pte Ltd.
FMR LLC’s deemed interests arise from shares held by funds and/or accounts managed by one or more FMR LLC’s direct and
indirect subsidiaries, which are fund managers.
Fidelity Management & Research Company LLC’s deemed interests arise from shares held by funds and/or accounts managed
by Fidelity Management & Research Company LLC as well as one or more of its direct and indirect subsidiaries, which are fund
managers. Fidelity Management & Research Company LLC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR LLC.
Abigail P. Johnson’s deemed interests arise from her entitlement to exercise or control the exercise of 20% or more of the voting
power over FMR LLC.
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 7 JUNE 2022
No.

Name

No. of Shares

%

1

TYC INVESTMENT PTE LTD

340,291,669

50.53

2

HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD

54,371,421

8.07

3

UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED

35,622,107

5.29

4

HENRY TAY YUN CHWAN

32,307,668

4.80

5

TAY WEE JIN MICHAEL (ZHENG WEIJUN MICHAEL)

26,804,098

3.98

6

RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED

25,799,892

3.83

7

CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD

23,069,773

3.43

8

PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD

20,619,965

3.06

9

DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED

14,587,328

2.17

10

TEO CHENG TUAN DONALD

12,185,100

1.81

11

DB NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD

7,394,200

1.10

12

UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED

5,812,085

0.86

13

ONG YEK SIANG

5,766,323

0.86

14

OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED

3,071,170

0.46

15

CHIA KUM HO

3,020,000

0.45

16

OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED

1,977,580

0.29

17

NG KWONG CHONG OR LIU OI FUI IVY

1,721,328

0.26

18

TAY MAY YI SABRINA

1,563,486

0.23

19

YEO SENG CHONG

1,450,000

0.22

20

LIM MEE HWA

1,092,800

0.16

618,527,993

91.86

Total :

Note: Percentages have been arithmetically rounded to two decimals and do not take into account share buy-backs by the Company
carried out between 6 and 7 June 2022.
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Singapore 238801
Tel
(65) 6509 9268
Fax
(65) 6509 9020
Email ion@thehourglass.com
TANG PLAZA
320 Orchard Road Ground Floor
Singapore 238865
Tel
(65) 6235 7198
Fax
(65) 6734 6319
Email tp@thehourglass.com
RAFFLES HOTEL ARCADE
328 North Bridge Road
#01-14 to 18
Singapore 188719
Tel
(65) 6334 3241
Fax
(65) 6254 1758
Email rh@thehourglass.com
MILLENIA WALK
9 Raffles Boulevard #01-27
Singapore 039596
Tel
(65) 6339 4870
Fax
(65) 6339 9034
Email mw@thehourglass.com
PARAGON
Paragon Grey by The Hour Glass
290 Orchard Road #01-28A to 29
Singapore 238859
Tel
(65) 6235 0200
Fax
(65) 6235 0900
Email prg.grey@thehourglass.com
VIVOCITY
1 HarbourFront Walk #01-24 to 27
Singapore 098585
Tel
(65) 6250 9830
Fax
(65) 6250 9860
Email vc@thehourglass.com

SINGAPORE

PARKWAY PARADE
80 Marine Parade Road #01-47 to 52
Singapore 449269
Tel
(65) 6348 9869
Fax
(65) 6348 9879
Email pp@thehourglass.com
ROLEX BOUTIQUE
ION ORCHARD
2 Orchard Turn #01-02
Singapore 238801
Tel
(65) 6509 9282
Fax
(65) 6509 9080
Email rol.ion@thehourglass.com
TUDOR BOUTIQUE
ION ORCHARD
2 Orchard Turn #01-14
Singapore 238801
Tel
(65) 6262 0042
Fax
(65) 6262 0364
Email iontudor@thehourglass.com
HUBLOT BOUTIQUES
THE SHOPPES AT MARINA BAY SANDS
2 Bayfront Avenue #01-58
Singapore 018972
Tel
(65) 6688 7890
Fax
(65) 6688 7893
Email hbt.mbs.sg@thehourglass.com
ION ORCHARD
2 Orchard Turn #02-08
Singapore 238801
Tel
(65) 6514 7200
Fax
(65) 6514 7203
Email hbt.ion.sg@thehourglass.com
WATCHES OF SWITZERLAND
BOUTIQUES
PARAGON
290 Orchard Road #01-19 to 20
Singapore 238859
Tel
(65) 6732 9793
Fax
(65) 6732 9545
Email wos.paragon@thehourglass.com
VIVOCITY
1 HarbourFront Walk #01-66
Singapore 098585
Tel
(65) 6376 9727
Fax
(65) 6376 9725
Email wos.vivocity@thehourglass.com
TAMPINES MALL
4 Tampines Central 5 #01-48
Singapore 529510
Tel
(65) 6783 6535
Fax
(65) 6783 6923
Email wos.tampines@thehourglass.com
NEX
23 Serangoon Central #01-41
Singapore 556083
Tel
(65) 6908 4489
Fax
(65) 6908 4492
Email wos.nex@thehourglass.com

MALAYSIA

CORPORATE OFFICE
THE HOUR GLASS SDN BHD
Suite 13-5, 13th Floor Wisma UOA II
21 Jalan Pinang
50450 Kuala Lumpur
Tel
(60) 3 2161 3228
Fax
(60) 2 2163 7133
www.thehourglass.com/contact-us/

MALAYSIA

BOUTIQUES
PAVILION KL SHOPPING MALL
Lot 2.40-2.41, Level 2
168 Jalan Bukit Bintang
55100 Kuala Lumpur
Tel
(60) 3 2148 8930
Fax
(60) 3 2148 8932
Email pavilion@thehourglass.com
LOT 10 SHOPPING CENTRE
Unit G20-21, Ground Floor
50 Jalan Sultan Ismail
50250 Kuala Lumpur
Tel
(60) 3 2144 1620
Fax
(60) 3 2145 7211
Email lot10@thehourglass.com
THE GARDENS, MID VALLEY CITY
Lot G-226/227, Ground Floor
Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur
Tel
(60) 3 2287 7830
Fax
(60) 3 2287 7832
Email midvalley@thehourglass.com
THE GARDENS, MID VALLEY CITY
Arcade by The Hour Glass
Lot G-212, Ground Floor
Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur
Tel
(60) 3 2201 7830
Fax
(60) 3 2201 7835
Email arcade.mvg@thehourglass.com
THE MEGAMALL, MID VALLEY CITY
Lot G-053, Ground Floor
Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur
Tel
(60) 3 2202 2882
Fax
(60) 3 2202 3908
Email megamallmv@thehourglass.com
PLAZA GURNEY PENANG
Lot 170-G-03, Plaza Gurney
Persiaran Gurney
10250 Penang
HUBLOT BOUTIQUES
SURIA KLCC
Lot G42, Ground Floor
Kuala Lumpur City Centre
50088 Kuala Lumpur
Tel
(60) 3 2181 7037
Fax
(60) 3 2181 7028
Email hbt.klcc.my@thehourglass.com
PAVILION KL SHOPPING MALL
Lot 3.47, Level 3
168 Jalan Bukit Bintang
55100 Kuala Lumpur
Tel
(60) 3 2110 1051
Fax
(60) 3 2110 1052
Email hbt.pavkl.my@thehourglass.com
TUDOR BOUTIQUE
MID VALLEY CITY
Lot G-001A, Ground Floor
Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur
Tel
(60) 3 2201 0822
Fax
(60) 3 2201 0831
Email tudor.mvm@thehourglass.com
WATCHES OF SWITZERLAND
BOUTIQUE
THE GARDENS, MID VALLEY CITY
Lot G-208A&B, Ground Floor
Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur
Tel
(60) 3 2201 6811
Fax
(60) 3 2201 6813
Email wosmvg@thehourglass.com

OPERATIONS DIRECTORY
AUSTRALIA

CORPORATE OFFICES
THE HOUR GLASS (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD
Level 3, 252 Collins Street
Melbourne, Victoria 3000
Tel
(61) 3 9989 0888
www.thehourglass.com/contact-us/
Level 6, 70 Castlereagh Street
Sydney, New South Wales 2000
Tel
(61) 2 9232 7775
www.thehourglass.com/contact-us/
BOUTIQUES
SYDNEY
142 King Street
Sydney, New South Wales 2000
Tel
(61) 2 9221 2288
Email thg.sydney.au@thehourglass.com
MELBOURNE
252 Collins Street
Melbourne, Victoria 3000
Tel
(61) 3 9650 6988
Email thg.melbourne.au@thehourglass.com
257 Collins Street
Melbourne, Victoria 3000
Tel
(61) 3 9989 0988
Email thg.melbourne257.au@thehourglass.com
BRISBANE
Shop 3, 171 Edward Street
Brisbane, Queensland 4000
Tel
(61) 7 3221 9133
Email thg.brisbane.au@thehourglass.com
ROLEX BOUTIQUE
SYDNEY
192 Pitt Street
Sydney, New South Wales 2000
Tel
(61) 2 9160 3888
Email rlx.sydney.au@thehourglass.com
TUDOR BOUTIQUES
MELBOURNE
257 Collins Street
Melbourne, Victoria 3000
Tel
(61) 3 9989 0988
Email tdr.melbourne.au@thehourglass.com
SYDNEY
147 King Street
Sydney, New South Wales 2000
Tel
(61) 2 8608 2288
Email tdr.sydney.au@thehourglass.com

NEW ZEALAND

CORPORATE OFFICE
THE HOUR GLASS (NZ) LIMITED
WATCHES OF SWITZERLAND (NZ) LIMITED
Level 1, 154 Queen Street
Auckland 1010
Tel
(64) 9 303 2839
www.thehourglass.com/contact-us/
BOUTIQUE
AUCKLAND
154 Queen Street
Auckland 1010
Tel
(64) 9 303 2839
Email thg.auckland.nz@thehourglass.com
ROLEX SERVICE CENTRE
AUCKLAND
Level 1, 154 Queen Street
Auckland 1010
Tel
(64) 9 303 2839
Email thg.auckland.nz@thehourglass.com
WATCHES OF SWITZERLAND
BOUTIQUE
AUCKLAND
58-60 Queen Street
Auckland 1010
Tel
(64) 9303 2202
Email wos.auckland.nz@thehourglass.com

HONG KONG

THAILAND

BOUTIQUES
HOLIDAY INN GOLDEN MILE HOTEL
Shop G01B, 50 Nathan Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Tel
(852) 2369 9122
Fax
(852) 2739 2510
Email imp@thehourglass.com

CENTRAL PHUKET FLORESTA
199 Central Phuket Floresta, 1st Floor
Unit 107/1-107/2
Moo 4, Tambol Vichit
Muang, Phuket 83000
Tel
(66) 7663 3888
Fax
(66) 7668 9717
Email info@pmtthehourglass.com

CORPORATE OFFICE
THE HOUR GLASS (HK) LIMITED
1416 Star House, 3 Salisbury Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Tel
(852) 2369 1868
Fax
(852) 2369 9166
Email hkadmin@thehourglass.com

THE LANDMARK
Shop G64, G/F
14 Des Voeux Road Central
Tel
(852) 2522 0262
Fax
(852) 2739 2511
Email lm@thehourglass.com

JAPAN

CORPORATE OFFICE
THE HOUR GLASS JAPAN LTD
Royal Crystal Ginza 1st Floor
5-4-6 Ginza Chuo-ku
Tokyo 104-0061
Tel
(81) 3 5537 7888
Fax
(81) 3 5537 1181
Email ginza@thehourglass.com
BOUTIQUE
GINZA
Royal Crystal Ginza 1st floor
5-4-6 Ginza Chuo-ku
Tokyo 104-0061
Tel
(81) 3 5537 7888
Fax
(81) 3 5537 1181
Email ginza@thehouglass.com

THAILAND

CORPORATE OFFICE
THE HOUR GLASS (THAILAND)
CO., LTD
989 Siam Piwat Tower, 19th Floor, Unit A
Rama 1 Road, Pathumwan
Bangkok 10330
Tel
(66) 2658 0599
Fax
(66) 2658 0593
THG PRIMA TIMES CO., LTD
989 Siam Piwat Tower, 19th Floor, Unit A
Rama 1 Road, Pathumwan
Bangkok 10330
Tel
(66) 2658 0599
Fax
(66) 2658 0593
Email info@pmtthehourglass.com
www.thehourglass.com/contact-us/
BOUTIQUES
GAYSORN
999 Gaysorn, Ground Floor, Unit GF-05
Ploenchit Road, Lumpini, Pathumwan
Bangkok 10330
Tel
(66) 2656 1212
Fax
(66) 2656 1213
Email info@pmtthehourglass.com
SIAM PARAGON
991 Siam Paragon, M Floor, Room 42-43
Rama 1 Road, Pathumwan
Bangkok 10330
Tel
(66) 2129 4777
Fax
(66) 2129 4780
Email info@pmtthehourglass.com

EMQUARTIER
A Building, Ground Floor, Room GA04-05
693 Sukhumvit Road, Khlong Tan Nua, Wattana
Bangkok 10110
Tel
(66) 2003 6022
Fax
(66) 2003 6026
Email info@pmtthehourglass.com

ROLEX BOUTIQUE
CENTRAL EMBASSY
1031 Central Embassy, Ground Floor
Room G01-11-12
Ploenchit Road, Lumpini, Pathumwan
Bangkok 10330
Tel
(66) 2160 5733
Fax
(66) 2160 5730
Email info@pmtthehourglass.com
HUBLOT BOUTIQUES
CENTRAL EMBASSY
1031 Central Embassy, Ground Floor
Room G01-10
Ploenchit Road, Lumpini, Pathumwan
Bangkok 10330
Tel
(66) 2160 5733
Fax
(66) 2160 5730
Email info@pmtthehourglass.com
SIAM PARAGON
991 Siam Paragon, M Floor, Room 41
Rama 1 Road, Pathumwan
Bangkok 10330
Tel
(66) 2129 4774
Fax
(66) 2129 4780
Email info@pmtthehourglass.com
PATEK PHILIPPE BOUTIQUE
ICONSIAM
299 Iconsiam, LG Floor, Unit LG-02
Charoennakhon Road, Khlong Ton Sai
Khlongsan
Bangkok 10600
Tel
(66) 2288 0060
Fax
(66) 2288 0063
Email info@pmtthehourglass.com

VIETNAM

CORPORATE OFFICE
THG PRIMA TIMES (VIETNAM)
COMPANY LIMITED
Unit 3, Level 10, Saigon Centre Tower 2
67 Le Loi Boulevard, Ben Nghe Ward, District 1
Ho Chi Minh City
Tel
(84) 28 7308 3088
www.thehourglass.com/contact-us/
HUBLOT BOUTIQUES
SAIGON CENTRE
L1-14, Saigon Centre, 67 Le Loi Boulevard
Ben Nghe Ward, District 1
Ho Chi Minh City
Tel
(84) 28 3636 9860
Email hcmsaigoncentre@hublot-boutique.com
UNION SQUARE
L1-04, Union Square, 171 Dong Khoi Street
Ben Nghe Ward, District 1
Ho Chi Minh City
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